

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

External Validation and Modification of a 30-day Readmission Risk Prediction Model for Heart Failure Patients

Debra Kelly Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Epidemiology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Professions

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Debra Kelly

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Eboni Green, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Michael Brunet, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Mehdi Agha, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

External Validation and Modification of a 30-day Readmission Risk Prediction Model for

Heart Failure Patients

by

Debra Kelly

MPH, New York Medical College, 2008

BS, Stony Brook University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2022

Abstract

The development and validation of 30-day readmission risk prediction models, such as the LACE index, have been of interest to researchers and healthcare organizations, especially since the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services began to impose monetary penalties on hospitals with higher than expected 30-day readmission rates. However, there is a lack of consensus concerning the efficacy of the LACE index in the heart failure population. The purpose of the study was to examine the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmission for heart failure patients and to build a modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model based on variables known to influence the risk of readmission. Andersen's behavioral model of health services was used to understand how the patient level variables of interest contributed to readmission risk as predisposing, enabling, and need factors. Using a correlational study design, quantitative data were retrospectively collected from the electronic medical records (n=655) of heart failure patients. The Receiver Operating Characteristic curve and simple binary logistic regression were used to answer the research questions. The results of the analyses revealed that both the LACE index and the modified risk prediction model had poor discriminatory accuracy for predicting the risk of 30-day readmission for the sample population. The results of the simple binary logistic regression indicated several of the independent variables were statistically significantly associated with all-cause 30-day readmission. Healthcare facilities operate with limited resources, and the identification of patients at a higher risk for 30-day readmission would allow healthcare professionals to initiate preventive measures before and after discharge.

External Validation and Modification of a 30-day Readmission Risk Prediction Model for

Heart Failure Patients

by

Debra Kelly

MPH, New York Medical College, 2008

BS, Stony Brook University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2022

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Eboni Green, Dr. Michael Brunet, and Dr. Mehdi Agha for their insightful comments and suggestions. I would also like to thank my family. Without their support and encouragement over the past few years, it would have been impossible for me to complete my schooling.

| List of Tables | iv |
|--|----|
| Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study | 1 |
| Background | 2 |
| Problem Statement | 5 |
| Purpose of the Study | 6 |
| Research Questions and Hypotheses | 6 |
| Theoretical Framework | 8 |
| Nature of the Study | 9 |
| Definitions | 10 |
| Assumptions | 13 |
| Scope and Delimitations | 13 |
| Limitations | 13 |
| Significance of the Study | 14 |
| Summary | 14 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 16 |
| Literature Search Strategy | 17 |
| Theoretical Framework | |
| The Andersen Behavioral Model of Health Services Use | 19 |
| Prior Research Using the Andersen Model | 19 |
| Application of the Andersen Model | |
| Literature Review Related to Key Variables | 21 |

Table of Contents

| The LACE Index |
|---|
| The LACE Index and the Prediction of Heart Failure Readmission |
| LACE Index Variables as Independent Risk Factors for Readmission 25 |
| Demographic and Clinical Factors Associated with Readmission |
| Methodological Considerations |
| Literature Review Summary |
| Chapter 3: Research Method |
| Research Design and Rationale |
| Methodology40 |
| Population, Sample, and Sampling Procedures40 |
| Data Collection |
| Operationalization of Constructs42 |
| LACE Index 42 |
| Variable Descriptions |
| Data Analysis Plan49 |
| Data Cleaning Procedures |
| Research Questions and Hypotheses |
| Statistical Analysis Plan51 |
| Potential Covariate |
| Validity |
| Ethical Procedures and Data Protections54 |
| Summary |

| Chapter 4: Results |
|---|
| Data Collection |
| Sample Characteristics |
| Descriptive Statistics |
| Statistical Assumptions |
| Statistical Analyses Results62 |
| Research Question 1 62 |
| Research Question 2 64 |
| Research Question 3 68 |
| Summary70 |
| Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations72 |
| Interpretation of Findings72 |
| Research Question 172 |
| Research Question 275 |
| Research Question 3 81 |
| Limitations of the Study84 |
| Recommendations |
| Social Change Implications85 |
| Conclusion |
| References |
| Appendix A: LACE Index |
| Appendix B: Permission to Use LACE Index111 |

List of Tables

| Table 1. Variable Measurement for Simple Logistic Regression Analyses | 47 |
|---|----|
| Table 2. Variable Measurement for Modified Risk Prediction Model | 48 |
| Table 3. Baseline Demographic Characteristics | 58 |
| Table 4. Descriptive Statistics | 61 |
| Table 5. Frequency of the LACE Index Risk Classification | 63 |
| Table 6. LACE Index ROC Curve Analysis | 63 |
| Table 7. Summary of Simple Binary Logistic Regression | 65 |
| Table 8. Modified 30-day Readmission Risk Prediction Model Point System | 69 |
| Table 9. Frequency of the Modified Risk Model Classification | 69 |
| Table 10. ROC Curve by Race | 70 |

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Reducing readmissions has become a key component of quality improvement efforts for acute care hospitals due to the subsequent financial and human costs (Upadhyay et al., 2019). Annually in the United States, approximately \$41.3 billion in hospital costs are associated with all-cause 30-day hospital readmissions (Hines et al., 2014). For the patient, readmission to an acute care hospital is associated with a higher risk of all-cause mortality at 1 year, a longer cumulative length of stay, and higher cumulative costs (Arundel et al., 2016; Guerrero et al., 2016). When national data are examined by diagnosis, the heart failure population has one of the highest all-cause 30day readmission rates (Fingar et al., 2017).

With the implementation of the electronic medical record (EMR), 30-day readmission risk prediction models are increasingly being used by acute care hospitals to identify heart failure patients at risk for readmission (Goldstein et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2016). Risk prediction models can advise the healthcare provider on the patient's probability of experiencing the health outcome of interest and help guide the associated clinical decision-making process (Flaks-Manov et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2016). The accurate prediction of 30-day readmission risk for heart failure patients can help inform the implementation of appropriate patient-specific interventions during hospitalization and post-discharge, as well as alleviate the patient and hospital costs associated with readmission.

This chapter will provide a background for the research and support for the research's necessity. The chapter will also include the research questions and hypotheses, nature of the study, assumptions, limitations, and scope of the research.

Background

According to the American Heart Association (2017), heart failure is a "chronic, progressive condition in which the heart muscle is unable to pump enough blood to meet the body's needs for blood and oxygen." Risk factors for heart failure include medical conditions such as diabetes, high blood pressure, obesity, and lifestyle behaviors, including smoking tobacco, excessive alcohol intake, and a diet high in fat, cholesterol, and sodium (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). Heart failure is characterized by typical signs and symptoms, including shortness of breath, ankle swelling, fatigue, pulmonary crackles, and peripheral edema (Ponikowski et al., 2016). The American College of Cardiology and the American Heart Association place patients into four stages of heart failure: Stage A (at high risk of heart failure but without symptoms and structural heart disease), Stage B (structural heart disease but without signs and symptoms), Stage C (structural heart disease with prior or current heart failure symptoms), and Stage D (refractory heart failure requiring specialized interventions; Inamdar & Inamdar, 2016). The medical evaluation of patients with suspected heart failure should involve an assessment of the patient's medical history and performance of a physical examination, laboratory testing, chest radiography, and electrocardiography (Inamdar & Inamdar, 2016). Treatment options include heart-healthy lifestyle changes, medications, and surgical procedures that help improve the functioning of the heart

muscles. The early diagnosis and treatment of heart failure patients can help them live longer and more active lives.

In the United States, heart failure affects approximately 6.2 million adults and annually accounts for more than \$30 billion in health care expenditures (Reddy & Borlaug, 2019). Though the 5-year survival rate after a diagnosis of heart failure increased 7.2% from 2000 to 2012, the 2012 survival rate at 5 years was still only 48.2% (Taylor et al., 2019). In addition, high rates of all-cause 30-day readmission have been found for the heart failure population. According to the latest publicly reported data by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS, 2017), the national riskstandardized 30-day readmission rate for heart failure patients was 21.4%, the highest 30day readmission rate of the primary diagnoses measured.

In response to high readmission rates, all-cause and diagnosis-specific, in hospitals across the United States, the Affordable Care Act established the Hospital Readmission Reduction Program, and 30-day readmissions became thought of as a measure of hospital quality. According to CMS, a 30-day readmission occurs when a patient experiences an unplanned readmission to the same hospital or another acute care hospital within 30 days of discharge from the initial admission, regardless of the reason (CMS, 2020). The selection of a 30-day time frame by CMS was based on Horwitz et al.'s (2011) review of the time-to-event curves for readmission. Horwitz et al. found that, for all discharge conditions examined, the time-to-event curves revealed a rapid early accrual of readmission and stabilization, typically within 30 days of discharge. Readmission within 30 days is more likely to be related to the quality of care received and the transition to the outpatient setting; therefore, it is a reasonable quality measure (Horwitz et al., 2011).

The use of readmission as a quality measure and the utilization of the EMR has led to the creation of readmission risk prediction models that calculate a risk score within the patient's EMR during hospitalization. Such models can be used to predict future events and are based on statistical analyses that incorporate multiple parameters that influence the outcome of interest. van Walraven et al. (2010) developed the LACE index (length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity of the patient, emergency department use) to predict the risk of death or unplanned readmission within 30 days of discharge from a hospital and identify patients who may benefit from more intensive post-discharge care. The LACE index was derived from a sample population from Ontario, Canada, and for the original research both an internal and an external validation were performed (van Walraven et al., 2010). Although the original researchers found the model to be discriminative and accurate for predicting the outcomes of interest, subsequent research has been inconsistent, and there is a lack of research focused on heart failure patients.

Researchers have supported the practice of externally validating a risk prediction model before its adoption into clinical practice (Grant et al., 2018). The lower performance of a prediction model may be observed when the model is applied to a different population other than the population from which it was derived (Stessel et al., 2017). It is believed that the poor performance of a risk prediction model is the result of patient populations with different distributions of the measured characteristics or the observed frequency of the health outcome (Myers et al., 2020). Therefore, the aim of this study was to increase the knowledge regarding the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index in heart failure patients and to examine whether the inclusion of additional demographic and clinical variables increased the model's ability to predict the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission.

Problem Statement

Risk prediction models are frequently used as a tool to assist with 30-day readmission reduction efforts within acute care hospitals. Prediction models should be both relatively simple and accurate, as an inaccurate prediction of future outcomes can lead to poor management of patients or resources (Lee et al., 2016). The LACE index is a simple risk prediction tool commonly used by acute care hospitals to predict readmission risk for hospitalized patients. The literature focusing on the LACE index's ability to predict readmission in heart failure patients has been conflicting, and there is limited research focused on the heart failure population (Calderon et al., 2018; Yazdan-Ashoori et al., 2016). Whereas Calderon et al. (2018) found no significant difference in readmission rates when comparing the LACE index score of high-risk patients versus low-moderate risk patients, research by Yazdan-Ashoori et al. (2016) demonstrated moderate discrimination of the LACE index in predicting readmission in heart failure patients. The intent of this study was to address the insufficient scientific evidence regarding the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index for heart failure patients and to create a version of the model that better predicted readmission in the heart failure patient population seen in New York.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the ability of the LACE index to predict the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients and investigate whether there were additional independent risk factors predictive of readmission that improved the performance of the LACE index. The dependent variable was readmission within 30 days of discharge, regardless of the diagnosis at the time of readmission. The independent variables were the LACE index, length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department visits in the previous 6 months, age, serum albumin and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician. The patient's race was explored as a covariate.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1: What is the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients?

 H_0 1: The LACE index does not have statistically significant discriminative accuracy.

 H_1 1: The LACE index does have statistically significant discriminative accuracy.

Research Question 2: Do length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician statistically significantly predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients?

 H_02 : Length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician do not predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients.

 H_12 : Length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician do predict all-cause 30day readmission in heart failure patients.

Research Question 3: Is there a combination of potential predictors (length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician) that results in a higher predictive value (*c* statistic) than LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients?

 H_0 3: There is no difference in the *c* statistic between the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model and the LACE index.

 H_1 3: There is a difference in the *c* statistic between the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model and the LACE index.

Theoretical Framework

Andersen's behavioral model of health services use was first developed in 1968 to assist in understanding the differences in medical services utilization between families (Andersen, 1968). The model, described in more detail in Chapter 2, considers the individual and contextual level factors that influence healthcare utilization. The model has three types of influencing factors:

(1) existing conditions that predispose people to use or not use services even
though these conditions are not directly responsible for use, (2) enabling
conditions that facilitate or impede use of services, and (3) need or conditions that
laypeople or health care providers recognize as requiring medical treatment.
(Andersen, 1968, p. 36)

Over time, the three-stage model has evolved to recognize the influences of the healthcare system, external environment, personal health practices, and health status outcomes on healthcare utilization, and the unit of analysis shifted to the individual rather than the family (Andersen, 1995).

Within this research, predisposing, enabling, and need factors were discussed in relation to the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission to an acute care hospital for heart failure patients. Andersen's behavioral model of health services served as the theoretical framework for the research by providing an understanding of how the components of the LACE index contribute to readmission risk as predisposing, enabling, and need factors. The model also offered context for the selection of the variables included within the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model.

Nature of the Study

The study design was correlational using quantitative retrospective data. The quantitative method suited the needs of this study, as numerical data were extracted from the EMR. A correlational study design is considered a nonexperimental method where the researcher studies the relationship between the variables of interest with no manipulation of the variables (Curtis et al., 2016). The focus of the research was to examine the relationship between the risk prediction models and all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients; consequently, there was no attempt to influence the dependent or independent variables, which made a correlational, nonexperimental study design an appropriate selection.

This research has two parts: an evaluation of the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients and the development of a modified version of the LACE index. A secondary dataset was used for this study. The secondary data source was de-identified medical records provided by a multihospital healthcare system in New York State. The healthcare system allowed access to a limited dataset containing administrative and clinical data routinely collected during hospitalization. The data collected included age, race, gender, readmission status, and the independent variables of interest. Simple logistic regression was used to examine the relationship between the independent variables and all-cause 30-day readmission to determine which variables were included within the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model. The Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve (reported as a concordance statistic) was examined to establish the discriminative accuracy of the

LACE index and the modified risk prediction model to predict all-cause 30-day readmission when applied to the study population. A stratified analysis was conducted to determine whether race influenced the performance of the models. Chapter 3 contains a further discussion of the data analysis plan.

Definitions

Acuity of the admission: The acuity of the admission represents whether the patient is admitted to the hospital through the emergency department or as an elective admission (van Walraven et al., 2010)

Acute care hospital: An acute care hospital provides inpatient medical care or other related services, usually for short-term illness or conditions (CMS, n.d.).

All-cause 30-day readmission: This study uses the term 30-day readmission as defined by CMS for the Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program (HRRP). Under the HRRP program, a 30-day readmission occurs when a patient is readmitted to the same or another acute care hospital for any reason within 30 days of discharge from the initial hospital admission (CMS, 2020).

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services: CMS is a federal agency that provides health coverage through Medicare, Medicaid, the Children's Health Insurance Program, and the Health Insurance Marketplace (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.).

Charlson comorbidity index: The Charlson comorbidity index is a weighted index used to predict the risk of death within one year of hospitalization for patients with

specific comorbid conditions based on the international classification of diseases (ICD) diagnosis codes found in administrative data (Charlson et al., 1987).

Comorbidity: Comorbidity, as defined by Valderas et al. (2009), is the presence of more than one distinct medical condition in an individual.

Electronic medical record: The EMR is a digital patient chart that contains patient-centered information collected and used by personnel in the healthcare organization, including medical history, medical notes, diagnosis, medications, treatment plans, immunization history, allergies, radiological images, and laboratory and test results (Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, 2019).

Emergency department: A hospital emergency department is responsible for providing immediate care (CMS, n.d.). A patient's medical visit is considered an emergency department visit when they are discharged from the emergency department without an inpatient stay.

Heart failure: A chronic, progressive condition where the heart muscles are unable to supply a sufficient amount of blood to meet the body's need for blood and oxygen (American Heart Association, 2017).

Hospital Readmission Reduction Program (HRRP): The HRRP is a Medicare value-based purchasing program. The program monitors six conditions and procedure-specific 30-risk-standardized unplanned readmission measures and reduces payments to hospitals with excess readmissions (CMS, 2020).

Inpatient hospitalization: A patient is considered an inpatient when a doctor places an order for inpatient care based on medical necessity, typically when 2 or more days of hospital care are required (CMS, n.d.).

LACE index: The LACE index is a predictive tool developed by van Walraven et al. (2010) to identify patients at risk for readmission or death within 30 days of discharge from the hospital. The LACE index considers the length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity of the patient, and emergency department use (van Walraven et al., 2010).

Length of stay: The length of stay is the number of days a patient stays in a healthcare facility and is calculated by subtracting the admission date from the discharge date (Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project, n.d.).

Laboratory results: Laboratory results provide clinicians with quantitative information that may be used to confirm a diagnosis or compare how a patient's condition is progressing or responding to treatment (Dasgupta & Sepulveda, 2019).

Primary care physician: A primary care physician is a specialist in family medicine, internal medicine, or pediatrics who provides comprehensive care and assists the patient in accessing a wider range of specialty healthcare services (Venes, 2013).

Risk prediction model: Risk prediction models are used in healthcare to guide decision-making processes to improve health outcomes, predict the risk of future events, or reduce healthcare costs through the efficient allocation of healthcare resources (Lee et al., 2016).

Assumptions

Due to the use of secondary data, one assumption of this research was that the data extracted from the EMR were accurate. It was also assumed that examining data from hospitals within a single healthcare system would capture all or most occurrences of all-cause 30-day readmission. However, it must be acknowledged that patients may have sought care at a healthcare facility outside of the system that served as the study site; therefore, the readmission event would not be counted within the dataset.

Scope and Delimitations

The focus of this study was on the ability of two risk prediction models to predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in adults with heart failure. Patients younger than 18 years of age were excluded from the study. The study dataset consisted of data collected from six acute care hospitals located in Long Island, New York, and was limited to information from the medical records of patients with a billing diagnosis of heart failure. All six facilities are located in a suburban area, thereby, limiting the generalizability of the results to rural or city areas.

Limitations

A limitation of this study was the use of secondary data, which constrains the researcher's control over the quality of the data collection process and threatens the study's internal validity. Variable documentation in the EMR could have resulted in missing data and the possibility of systematic differences between the complete patient records and those that are not, leading to nonresponse bias (see Cheung et al., 2017). Another limitation of this study was the use of convenience sampling, a form of

nonprobability sampling that threatens the external validity of the study and limits the generalizability of the results (Jager et al., 2017). According to Panacek (2007), strict adherence to guidelines for proper chart review, including specific inclusion and exclusion criteria and well-defined research questions and variable definitions, could help minimize the effect of the biases inherent in retrospective chart reviews.

Significance of the Study

This research provides information regarding the effectiveness of the LACE index in predicting the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission in the study population and for similar populations. The insights provided from this study can help advise hospitals whether the implementation of the LACE index would be an appropriate measure to help avoid CMS's financial penalties associated with a higher than expected risk-standardized 30-day readmission rate. Further, this study has the potential to lead to positive social change by developing a model that more accurately identifies heart failure patients at risk for readmission who would benefit from the implementation of appropriate patientspecific interventions. The prevention of readmission can help heart failure patients avoid the negative medical and financial consequences known to be associated with readmission to the hospital within 30 days of discharge.

Summary

Regulatory agencies, such as CMS, regard 30-day readmission rates as a quality metric for healthcare providers. Consequently, hospitals across the United States have implemented targeted performance improvement efforts to reduce 30-day readmission rates to avoid the associated economic costs and decrease unnecessary patient suffering. A review of the current literature has shown that even though the LACE index is a commonly used risk prediction tool, and one that has been externally validated, the efficacy of the tool in predicting the risk of readmission is variable between different sample populations and when applied to patients with specific diagnoses. To address the issue of possible lower performance and, therefore, ineffectiveness in clinical practice, the aim of this study was to evaluate the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index for predicting all-cause 30-day readmission within the selected sample population of heart failure patients. Further, the secondary purpose of the study was to develop and analyze a modified version of the LACE index that includes additional variables. Chapter 2 consists of a more detailed explanation of the study's theoretical framework and an overview of the current literature related to 30-day readmission to an acute care hospital for heart failure patients.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Heart failure is one of the leading causes of hospitalizations and readmission in the United States. Jackson et al. (2018) used national data to examine the burden of heart failure and found that in 2014, there were 978,135 hospitalizations, 1,068,412 emergency department (ED) visits, and 83,705 deaths associated with a primary diagnosis of heart failure. Among the patients hospitalized for heart failure, many meet the definition of readmission set by CMS. Patil et al. (2019) analyzed data on heart failure patients supplied by the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project National Readmission Database and found that 20.14% of patients were readmitted within 30 days, with a median readmission time of 12 days from initial discharge.

Though the extent of the current literature focusing specifically on the heart failure population is limited, researchers have shown that the high rates of readmission experienced by heart failure patients are associated with substantial healthcare costs and poor patient outcomes. Kwok et al. (2021) found that the estimated total mean cost for heart failure patients with a 30-day readmission was $15,618 \pm 25,264$, compared to $11,845 \pm 22,710$ for heart failure patients without a 30-day readmission. Similarly, Fingar and Washington (2015) examined the annual aggregate cost of readmission and attributed \$2.7 billion in healthcare spending to readmission for heart failure patients. Along with financial costs, the adverse patient outcomes associated with 30-day readmissions have also been documented. Arundel et al. (2016) researched the long-term outcomes of readmission for Medicare beneficiaries with heart failure using a propensitybased matched cohort of heart failure patients with and without a 30-day all-cause readmission. Over the 8.7-year follow-up period, those with an all-cause 30-day readmission experienced a longer cumulative length of stay (51 days vs. 43 days) and higher cumulative costs (\$38,972 vs. \$34,025). The researchers also found that all-cause mortality within 1 year occurred in 41% of the patients with a 30-day all-cause readmission compared to 27% in those without a 30-day all-cause readmission (Arundel et al., 2016). The unnecessary financial costs and adverse patient outcomes associated with 30-day readmissions highlight the necessity to accurately identify high-risk patients while hospitalized who would benefit from targeted 30-day readmission reduction efforts.

In this nonexperimental, quantitative study, I explored the ability of the LACE index to predict the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients and investigated the relationship between 30-day readmission and additional clinical and demographic factors. Previous studies have validated the use of the LACE index in various populations; however, the results have been conflicting, and the heart failure population has been understudied (Calderon et al., 2018; Yazdan-Ashoori et al., 2016). This chapter contains a synthesis of findings from the current literature relating to 30-day readmission in heart failure patients, the LACE index, and the associated risk factors and outcomes. This chapter will also include background information on the relevance of the research problem and evidence to support the Andersen behavioral model of health services use as the theoretical basis for the study.

Literature Search Strategy

I used the Walden University Library to conduct a review of the literature related to 30-day readmission in the heart failure population, risk factors, and the LACE index using the CINAHL & MEDLINE Combined Search and SocINDEX with Full-Text databases, along with the Thoreau multidatabase search. The key search terms used were *heart failure*, *30-day readmission*, *30-day rehospitalization*, *LACE index*, *length of stay*, *acuity*, *Charlson comorbidity index*, *emergency department*, *age*, *medication*, *laboratory results*, *healthcare utilization*, *risk of readmission*, and *Andersen behavioral model of health services use*. Articles were included in the review if they were peer-reviewed, written in English, published after 2015, and excluded if focused on a pediatric study population. Under certain circumstances, older or seminal articles were included to supplement the breadth of the relevant knowledge contained in the current literature. For nationally representative statistics, data from U.S. government websites were used.

Theoretical Framework

Andersen's (1968) behavioral model of health services use, hereafter referred to as the Andersen model, served as the theoretical basis for this study. The Andersen model was first developed in 1968 to "assist the understanding of why families use health services, to define and measure equitable access to healthcare, and to assist in developing policies to promote equitable access" (Andersen, 1995, p. 1). The Andersen model provides a framework for exploring the contextual (circumstances and environment related to access to care) and individual factors that influence healthcare utilization (Andersen et al., 2013). Though the framework examines both the contextual and individual influences, this research focused only on individual factors. In the following section, I describe the Andersen model and review the existing literature in which the model is applied as the theoretical framework in a way similar to the current study.

The Andersen Behavioral Model of Health Services Use

Since it was first published, the Andersen model has evolved in response to criticisms and the advancing concepts of the discipline (Andersen, 1995; Andersen et al., 2013). The original model concentrated on the family as the unit of analysis, but the focus shifted to the individual due to the difficulty of developing measures that consider the heterogeneity of the family unit (Andersen, 1995). The Andersen model identifies three influencing factors: predisposing, enabling, and need (Andersen, 1968). Predisposing factors influence an individual's predisposition to access healthcare and include gender, race, genetic susceptibility, health belief attitudes, and social factors, such as education and occupation, that determine a person's status in the community (Andersen et al., 2013). According to the Andersen model, enabling factors facilitate or impede the use of health services (Andersen, 1968). This category of influencing factors considers the individual's support network and financial resources, as finances influence an individual's ability to pay for services (Andersen et al., 2013). Finally, need factors include the individual's emotional response to the illness, and their perception of their health status and the magnitude of the health problem (Andersen et al., 2013). The Andersen model categorizes a healthcare provider's professional judgment of the need for care based on objective measurement as a need factor (Andersen et al., 2013).

Prior Research Using the Andersen Model

The Andersen model has often served as a theoretical framework in research focused on readmission to a healthcare facility. Smith et al. (2017) conducted a prospective cohort study to examine the influence of patient-level sociodemographic 19

characteristics on readmission risk in medical patients. The researchers used the Andersen model to guide the conceptualization of the independent variables into predisposing, enabling, and needs factors. The researchers found that while predisposing and enabling factors were not significantly associated with unplanned readmission within 30 days, needs factors, such as the frequency of emergency department visits, were significantly associated. Smith et al.'s study is particularly relevant to this research because the authors analyzed the individual components of the LACE index and classified them as need factors.

Similar to Smith et al. (2017), Kaya et al. (2019) examined the predictors of readmission in internal medicine patients and used the Andersen model to divide the chosen independent variables into four groups: predisposing, enabling, need, and utilization. The researchers concluded that need factors, such as higher comorbidity, length of stay, and weaker coping ability, were the most powerful predictors of readmission (Kaya et al., 2019). However, Hamilton et al. (2016) used the Andersen model to explore the predictors of psychiatric readmissions and found that both enabling (housing instability/insurance coverage) and need factors were strong predictors of readmission.

According to Chan et al. (2019), when the focus of research is solely on wellestablished risk factors, the prediction of readmission risk is hindered. Therefore, Chan et al. used the Andersen model to justify the idea that perceived social support is an enabling resource for healthcare utilization. In alignment with the Andersen model, the authors argued that social support buffers the patient against the medical, financial, and emotional stresses associated with hospitalization and protects against 30-day readmission. Chan et al. found that those with low social support were more likely to be readmitted than those with high social support. This study further establishes the Andersen model's flexibility when exploring the factors that influence health care utilization as predisposing, enabling, and need factors.

Application of the Andersen Model

As described above, the Andersen model has been widely used to investigate the utilization of healthcare services in relation to readmission risk. The model assumes that healthcare utilization depends on the person's predisposition to use health services, their ability to access services, and their illness level (Andersen & Newman, 2005). The framework allows for the development of a risk model that considers the individual characteristics of healthcare utilization and guides the selection of relevant variables (see Andersen & Newman, 2005). In alignment with the Andersen model, the following literature review examines the LACE index and provides evidence of the relevant predisposing, enabling, and need factors that are thought to contribute to the risk of readmission for heart failure patients.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

The next section of the literature review will include the key variables used in the study and how each variable relates to the risk of 30-day readmission.

The LACE Index

van Walraven et al. (2010) conducted a prospective cohort study with the intent of developing an easy-to-use model that would predict the risk of death or unplanned

readmission within 30 days after discharge from a hospital. The study sample consisted of 4,812 medical and surgical patients discharged from 11 community hospitals located in Ontario, Canada (van Walraven et al., 2010). Multivariable logistic regression was used to measure the independent relationship between 48 patient-level variables and early death or readmission. Four variables were found to be independently associated with the outcomes: length of stay in days (OR = 1.47; 95% CI [1.25, 1.73]), acuity of the admission (OR = 1.84; 95% CI [1.29, 2.63]), Charlson comorbidity index score (OR =1.21; 95% CI [1.10, 1.33]), and emergency department visits during the previous 6 months (OR = 1.56; 95% CI [1.27, 1.92]). The LACE index score is calculated by adding the numeric values assigned to the variables relevant to the patient. The score ranges from 1 to 19, with 0–4 indicating low risk, 5–9 indicating moderate risk, and a score of greater than 10 indicating a high risk of readmission.

The LACE Index and the Prediction of Heart Failure Readmission

Although a review of the current literature revealed research that analyzed the ability of the LACE index to predict the risk of unplanned readmission within 30 days after hospital discharge, the findings were conflicting, particularly when applied to specific patient subgroups (Damery & Combes, 2017). The following section focuses on a review of the current published literature related to the heart failure population.

Calderon et al. (2018) studied the ability of the LACE index to predict 30-day readmission in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. The researchers found slightly elevated LACE index scores in patients who were readmitted within 30-days compared to those who were not readmitted (12.53 vs. 11.41). Despite this, Calderon et

al. found no significant difference in readmission risk when comparing patients classified as high-risk based on the LACE index score to those categorized as low-moderate risk (OR = 5.37; 95% CI [0.82, 35.0]; p = .07). Wang et al. (2014) performed an external validation of the LACE index using a population of congestive heart failure patients. Similar to Calderon et al., while the calculated LACE index score was slightly higher in those readmitted, Wang et al. found no significant difference in the rates of readmission between those with a high LACE index score and those with a low LACE index score (24.34% vs. 25.93%, respectively; p = .856). The findings of Calderon et al. and Wang et al. support the view that the LACE index may not accurately predict unplanned 30-day readmission in the heart failure population.

In comparison, Yazdan-Ashoori et al. (2016) found that the odds of 30-day readmission increased with higher LACE scores (OR = 1.13; 95% CI [1.02, 1.24]). Yazdan-Ashoori et al. conducted a prospective cohort study as part of the Patient-Centered Care Transitions in Heart Failure (PACT-HF) pilot study to assess whether the LACE index could predict readmission risk in hospitalized heart failure patients. However, Yazdan-Ashoori et al. noted that the PACT-HF pilot study delivered evidenceinformed transitional care services to all patients hospitalized for heart failure, and 42% of the study population received additional post-discharge nursing services. As a result, the researchers acknowledged that readmission rates might have been lower in the study population than the rates typically calculated for standard heart failure patients (Yazdan-Ashoori et al., 2016). Similarly, research results by Regmi et al. (2020) supported the clinical application of the LACE index. Although the primary purpose of the research performed by Regmi et al. was to examine whether the type of heart failure affected readmission rates, the authors found that the mean LACE index score of patients readmitted was 12.59 compared to a mean score of 11.31 in the non-readmitted group (p < .001). The findings of Yazdan-Ashoori et al. and Regmi et al. suggest that the LACE index could be a valuable tool for predicting the risk of 30-day readmission in patients with heart failure. When limited resources are available, acute care facilities need to utilize a model that discriminates patients at a high risk for readmission from patients with a low risk for optimal resource use.

A common theme found in the literature was to compare the LACE index to other readmission risk models. The results of research by Au et al. (2012) found the LACE index to have poor discriminative accuracy for predicting readmission with a *c* statistic of 0.59 (95% CI [0.58, 0.60]), but the LACE index showed superior performance when compared to other models. The researchers explored the net reclassification index, an estimate that attempts to measure how well a new model reclassifies participants compared to an older model (Au et al., 2012). The LACE index showed a 12.6% reclassification improvement for predicting 30-day readmission over the Charlson score and a 15% net reclassification improvement over the Keenan prediction model (Au et al., 2012).

Van Spall et al. (2018) compared the performance of the LACE index to an abbreviated version, LE (length of stay and ER visits). The ROC curve analysis

associated with the LACE index produced a *c* statistic of 0.617 (95% CI [0.586, 0.648]), and the LE showed slightly improved discrimination with a *c* statistic of 0.629 (95% CI [0.593, 0.655]). Likewise, Zheng et al. (2015) compared the accuracy, specificity, and sensitivity of the LACE index to data mining approaches in a population of heart failure patients. The LACE index was found to be inferior compared to data mining models with an accuracy of 43.5%, specificity of 21.8%, and sensitivity of 51.8% (Zheng et al., 2015). The comparison of the LACE index to other models and the findings of inferior performance is relevant to this study because it shows that it may be possible to develop an alternative model that better predicts the risk of 30-day readmission in the study population.

LACE Index Variables as Independent Risk Factors for Readmission

Although the effectiveness of the LACE index for predicting the risk of 30-day readmission in the heart failure population is understudied, considerable research efforts have focused on the risk factors predictive of readmission for heart failure patients. The relationship between the individual variables of the LACE index (length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, and emergency department use) and 30-day readmission have been covered in the current literature. In the following section, I discuss the variables of the LACE index as independent risk factors of 30-day readmission for heart failure patients.

Length of Stay

Of the variables included in the LACE index, length of stay (LOS) was the most extensively covered in the literature. A patient's LOS in an acute care facility is measured from the admission date to the discharge date. While a longer LOS is associated with an increased risk of hospital-acquired infections and deconditioning, a shorter LOS may not allow for symptom resolution and the proper identification of patients requiring post-discharge services (Sud et al., 2017). The patient outcomes associated with both a longer and shorter LOS may lead to an increased risk of 30-day readmission.

The research regarding the relationship between LOS and 30-day readmission for heart failure patients is inconsistent. A review of the literature revealed studies that 1) have linked both a longer LOS and a shorter LOS with an increased risk of readmission, and 2) studies that have found no association between LOS and the risk of 30-day readmission. After controlling for age, gender, and comorbidities, Whittaker et al. (2015) found that while the mean LOS was higher in heart failure patients who experienced a 30-day readmission (12.8 \pm 22.2 days vs. 8.9 \pm 12.2 days), LOS was not significantly associated with readmission (p = .77). Research by Carlson et al. (2019) found similar results. However, the researchers acknowledged that the average LOS of the study population was 3.4 days, compared to 5.7 to 7.8 days reported in other studies, which may have affected the study results. In contrast, research by Sud et al. (2017) found a Ushaped relationship between LOS and cardiovascular (p < .001) and heart failure (p =.005) readmissions with increased rates of readmission associated with the shortest and longest LOS. Noncardiovascular readmissions increased linearly as the length of stay increased in the study population (Sud et al., 2017).

Different definitions for the LOS variable were used throughout the literature, making it difficult to compare the researcher's findings. Mirkin et al. (2017) used a one-
week LOS as the reference and found that having a LOS of 1 to 2 weeks (AOR = 1.26; p < .001) or ≥ 2 weeks (AOR = 1.62; p < .001) was associated with an increased risk of readmission in patients with congestive heart failure. Research by Arora et al. (2017) and Miñana et al. (2017) differed from Mirkin et al. by evaluating the relationship between LOS and 30-day readmission using shorter timeframes. Arora et al. divided LOS into ≤ 2 days, 3-4 days, 5-8 days, and >8 days and found that an index admission with a LOS of \geq 3 days was a significant predictor of an increase in 30-day readmission for heart failure patients (p < .001). Similarly, Miñana et al. divided LOS into four categories: ≤ 4 days, 5–7 days, 8–10 days, and >10 days. The researchers found that a LOS of \leq 4 days was not related to an increased risk of readmission, and a LOS of 8–10 days and >10 days were associated with a marginal increase in the risk of 30-day readmission when compared to 5–7 days (Miñana et al., 2017). Bradford et al. (2017) and Roshanghalb et al. (2019) found that a LOS longer than 5 days was associated with an increased risk for 30-day readmission (OR = 1.58; 95% CI [1.15, 2.15]; OR = 1.12, 95% CI [1.10, 1.14], respectively). Further research is needed to clarify whether a longer LOS or shorter LOS is a stronger predictor of readmission. Standardization of the LOS variable definition would make it easier to compare research findings and assist with the identification of patients who would benefit from enhanced discharge planning.

Acuity of the Admission

Acuity of the admission refers to the type of admission to the acute care facility: through the emergency department versus an elective admission (van Walraven et al., 2010). Using a population of patients with acute decompensated heart failure, Patil et al. (2019) found an elective admission was independently associated with a lower risk of 30day readmission (OR = 0.91; p < .01). Approaching the variable from the other direction, Mirkin et al. (2017) found that emergent admissions were significantly associated with 30-day readmission in patients diagnosed with congestive heart failure who were discharged home or to a skilled nursing facility following their index admission (p <.001). Chung et al. (2017) also found an emergency department admission increased the risk of 30-day readmission in heart failure patients when compared to those admitted electively (AOR = 1.20; 95% CI [1.12, 1.29]). The association between an emergent admission and an increased risk of 30-day readmission validates the inclusion of the variable in the LACE index and the development of the modified risk prediction model.

Comorbidity Score

The medical community acknowledges that patients with heart failure have a high burden of noncardiovascular comorbidities (Ponikowski et al., 2016). Using data from the American Heart Association's Get with the Guidelines registry, Sharma et al. (2018) found that the prevalence of 0, 1, 2 and >3 noncardiovascular comorbidities in heart failure patients was 18%, 30%, 27%, and 25%, respectively. The LACE index evaluates a patient's comorbidities through the Charlson comorbidity index score (CCI). The CCI was first developed by Charlson et al. (1987) to be a weighted index used to predict the risk of death within one year of hospitalization for patients with specific comorbid conditions. The CCI is considered a summary comorbidity measure; this type of measure is commonly used as a substitute for individual comorbidity variables in health services research and application (Austin et al., 2015). The relationship between a higher CCI score and the risk of 30-day readmission for heart failure patients has been documented in the literature. Arora et al. (2017) selected a heart failure study cohort from the National Readmission Database and used the Deyo et al. (1992) modification of the CCI to examine the relationship between comorbidities and 30-day readmission. The researchers found that a higher burden of comorbidities, CCI \geq 3, was a statistically significant predictor of 30-day readmission (OR = 1.09; p < .001) (Arora et al., 2017). Likewise, research by Patil et al. (2019) showed that a higher CCI score in patients with decompensated heart failure was independently associated with a higher rate of 30-day readmission (OR = 1.11; p < .01). Research by Chung et al. (2017) found a mean CCI score of 5.2 +/- 2.9 for the study participants in the readmission group and 4.3 +/- 2.5 for those in the non-readmission group. Multiple comorbidities complicate recovery and increase hospitalization rates; therefore, a link between 30-day readmission and comorbidities is not unexpected.

Emergency Department Use

Nationally, in 2014, there was an estimated 1,068,412 emergency department visits for patients with heart failure (Jackson et al., 2018). Although it is known that heart failure patients have a high incidence of emergency department use, few researchers have focused specifically on the relationship between previous emergency department visits and 30-day readmission risk for heart failure patients. Research by Bradford et al. (2017) found that 24.87% of the patients who were readmitted in the study sample visited the emergency department 1 or more times in the 90 days preceding the index admission, and there was a statistically significant relationship between emergency department

utilization and the risk of 30-day readmission (OR = 1.58; 95% CI [1.15, 2.15]). Using logistic regression, Carlson et al. (2019) found the number of emergency department visits in the previous 6 months was an independent predictor of 30-day readmission for heart failure patients (OR = 1.5; p = .009). The authors suggested that the higher incidence of emergency department visits in patients who are readmitted within 30 days of discharge may indicate a lack of access to non-emergency care within the study population (Carlson et al., 2019).

Demographic and Clinical Factors Associated with Readmission

Age

In the literature, age is commonly considered a covariate in statistical analyses; however, some researchers have examined age as an independent predictor of 30-day readmission risk in the heart failure population. Although research by Arora et al. (2017) found that age was not an independent predictor of readmission for heart failure patients, other studies have found a statistically significant association between the variables. For example, the purpose of research by Chamberlain et al. (2018) was to develop a predictive readmission model for patients with congestive heart failure, the Readmission After Heart Failure (RAHF) scale. In the derivation cohort, the researchers found that age less than 65 years was independently associated with higher readmission risk after hospitalization (OR = 1.14; 95% CI [1.11, 1.18]; Chamberlain et al., 2018). Mirkin et al. (2017) found similar results when they explored the relationship between age and 30-day readmission based on discharge disposition of the index admission. Compared to patients without a 30-day readmission, patients who were discharged home from their index admission and were readmitted within 30 days were more likely to be less than 65 years of age, p = .007 (Mirkin et al., 2017). Likewise, for patients discharged home with home nursing care, those readmitted were more likely to be between 18 and 65 years old, p =.013 (Mirkin et al., 2017). Among patients admitted to a skilled nursing facility, patients less than 76 years old were more likely to be readmitted, p < .001 (Mirkin et al., 2017). Although Mirkin et al. and Chamberlain et al. acknowledged the higher risk of readmission experienced by those less than 65 years of age, they did not hypothesize explanations for why.

Research by Whellan et al. (2016) found a dichotomous relationship when examining the association between age and 30-day readmission in heart failure patients. The statistical analyses performed by the researchers showed that for patients under 55 years of age, there was a significantly lower likelihood of all-cause 30-day readmission for each 10-year increase in age (OR = 0.81; 95% CI [0.70, 0.93]), while for patients older than 55 years of age there was a significantly higher likelihood of all-cause readmission for each 10-year increase in age (OR = 1.23; 95% CI [1.14, 1.32]; Whellan et al., 2016). The increased risk of readmission identified in the older population may be the result of a greater number of comorbidities; however, there is an opportunity for further research to better explore the increased risk of 30-day readmission identified for heart failure patients less than 55 years of age.

Medication

The literature discusses the influence of a medication regimen on the risk of 30day readmission through two different mechanisms: medication regimen complexity and the use of medication responsible for risk reduction. Research conducted by Picker et al. (2015) found a statistically significant association between an increasing number of medications prescribed at discharge and the prevalence of 30-day readmission (p < .001). The prescribing of more than six discharge medications was found to be an independent predictor of 30-day readmission (OR = 1.26; 95% CI [1.17, 1.36]; p = .003; Picker et al., 2015). Picker et al. suggested that the complexity of the medication regimen serves as a suitable proxy for the complicated disease process in heart failure patients offering foundational support for the variables influence on 30-day readmission risk.

Conversely, Colavecchia et al. (2017) postulated that a complex medication regimen is an indicator of medication burden, which may negatively impact patient medication adherence leading to adverse drug events, such as hospital readmission. Colavecchia et al. researched the medication regimen complexity index (MCRI) and its use at discharge as a means for identifying heart failure patients at risk for hospital readmission. The MCRI is a weighted calculation based on drug route, frequency of administration, and additional directions of the patient's prescribed medications (Colavecchia et al., 2017). The researchers performed multivariate logistic regression and found that heart failure patients with an MCRI greater or equal to 15 were more likely to be readmitted within 30-days than those with an MCRI less than 15 (OR = 1.65; 95% CI [1.01, 2.56]). Although the mechanisms responsible for the association between complex medication regimen and an increased risk of 30-day readmission in the heart failure population is unclear, the association has been documented.

A review of the literature by Ziaeian and Fonarow (2016) found that evidencebased medical therapies recommended by the American College of Cardiology and the American Heart Association (i.e., beta blockers [BB], angiotensin-converting enzyme [ACE] inhibitors, and angiotensin receptor blockers [ARB]) have been shown to reduce readmissions and improve outcomes for heart failure patients. Primary research by Lim et al. (2019) showed that the use of BB, ACE inhibitors, and ARB medications at discharge were lower in those who experienced a 30-day heart failure readmission than those who were not readmitted (p < .0001). With a research purpose similar to Lim et al., Loop et al. (2020) used prescription fill claims as a proxy for BB use and found that filling a prescription for a BB was associated with an approximately 20% lower risk of a heart failure readmission 30 days after discharge.

With a focus specifically on ACE/ARB usage, Sanam et al. (2016) analyzed readmission rates for Medicare beneficiaries with heart failure. The statistical analyses showed that the use of an ACE/ARB was associated with a significantly lower risk of 30day all-cause readmission (HR = 0.74; 95% CI [0.56, 0.97]; p = .030; Sanam et al., 2016). The positive association between the adherence to the evidence-based medical therapy guidelines and a reduced risk of 30-day readmission supports the consideration of pharmaceutical use within the modified 30-day risk prediction model.

Laboratory Results

Laboratory results of heart failure patients may reflect renal dysfunction or the interaction of decongestive therapy and provide insight on the occurrence of readmission (Vader et al., 2016). Bradford et al. (2017) abstracted the last value before discharge for

several laboratory tests and found that BUN over 45 mg/dL was the only laboratory value associated with an increased risk of 30-day readmission (OR = 1.80; 95% CI [1.15, 2.82]). Using Cox proportional hazards models, Vader et al. (2016) showed that a higher BUN, higher bicarbonate (total CO2), and lower sodium at baseline predicted a greater risk of readmission within the study population (p = <.001).

The enhancement of administrative 30-day readmission risk models with the inclusion of a patient's laboratory results has shown modest improvements in discrimination over more basic models for heart failure patients (Huynh et al., 2016). Research by Huynh et al. (2016) sought to develop a score for the likelihood of readmission due to heart failure and included several laboratory measurements. BUN and albumin were determined to be significant predictors and were added to the multivariate model (Huynh et al., 2016). The overall model was found to have adequate discriminatory power for predicting readmission within 30 days of discharge (c statistic = .77; 95% CI [0.74, 0.81]; Huynh et al., 2016). However, it is important to note that the model also considered mental health variables.

Use of Health Care Services

Within the current literature, researchers have explored the influence a patient's use of healthcare services may have on 30-day readmission rates, including access to a physician and previous inpatient hospitalizations. Research by Dupre et al. (2018) focused on a population of patients with cardiovascular disease and found that after controlling for several covariates, patients who reported difficulty accessing care had a higher risk of 30-day readmission than patients who did not report difficulty accessing

care (adjusted OR = 2.17; 95% CI [1.29, 3.66]). These findings support the statistical results of research conducted by Tung et al. (2017). Tung et al. observed that early physician follow-up (within seven days of discharge) in patients with heart failure was associated with a lower hazard ratio of 30-day readmission when compared to patients who did not receive early physician follow-up (HR = 0.54; 95% CI [0.48, 0.60]). According to Tung et al., adequate access to a physician following discharge can reduce the risk of 30-day readmission by facilitating the transition from hospital to home, providing medical interventions in response to disease instability, and offering clinical guidance on medical therapies.

A lack of access to a physician may cause heart failure patients to seek care at an acute care facility leading to the possibility of a patient meeting the CMS definition of 30-day readmission. McLaren et al. (2016) found that patients with one prior admission had a 50% higher risk (95% CI [1.10, 2.05]; p = .011) for 30-day readmission, while those with two or more prior admissions had more than a 3-fold increased risk for 30-day readmission (95% CI [2.27, 4.09]; p < .001). However, in conflict with the results of McLaren et al., Bradford et al. (2017) found that one or more inpatient admissions within the past 90 days was not significantly associated with 30-day readmission (OR = 1.28; 95% CI [0.95, 1.73]; p = .106). The inconsistent evidence regarding previous inpatient hospitalizations supports the need for more research exploring the variable as a significant predictor of 30-day readmission before its inclusion into risk prediction models.

Race

There is evidence of an association between a heart failure patient's race and the risk of 30-day readmission within the current literature. Results of research by Mirkin et al. (2017) showed that congestive heart failure patients who were readmitted were more likely to be black (p = .001). Similarly, after adjusting for patient characteristics, hospital characteristics, and socioeconomic status, Ziaeian et al. (2017) found that when compared to white patients, black patients had a higher risk of 30-day readmission (HR = 1.09; 95% CI [0.66, 0.88]; p = .012). The researchers found that black patients in the study population had a higher prevalence of preventable comorbidities, such as diabetes, hypertension, and renal insufficiency, which may explain the higher risk of 30-day readmission (Ziaeian et al., 2017).

Methodological Considerations

The following section summarizes the research that supported the chosen methodology of the current study. The findings of the research studies were discussed in detail earlier in this chapter; therefore, in this section I will only refer to the methodology. Out of the seven studies reviewed regarding the ability of the LACE index to predict readmission in the heart failure population, all were conducted using retrospective chart reviews and secondary data. The most commonly used statistical test to research the ability of the LACE index to predict readmission in the heart failure population was the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve (reported as a concordance (*c*) statistic). The ROC estimates the probability that a risk prediction model can correctly discriminate between randomly selected individuals with and without the event of interest (Verbakel et al., 2020). Based on the current literature, there was foundational support for calculating the ROC curve for this research study. Reporting the *c* statistic also allowed the results of the research to be compared to the original derivation of the LACE index by van Walraven et al. (2010). Logistic regression was used to evaluate if the variables discussed in the literature review are independently associated with the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission for the creation of the modified risk prediction model. The use of logistic regression aligned with the methodology of the literature reviewed and allowed the research results to be compared to similar research. Chapter 3 will present further details of the data analysis plan.

Literature Review Summary

Healthcare facilities face financial penalties for higher than expected 30-day readmission rates for heart failure patients. In response, healthcare systems have turned to risk predictive models, built into the EMR, to reduce readmission rates. The predictive model can alert providers of patients at a greater risk of readmission and those who would benefit from interventions. The ability of the LACE index to predict readmission in the heart failure population is understudied, and the results contained within the existing literature have been conflicting (Calderon et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2014; Yazdan-Ashoori et al., 2016).

Further, heart failure readmission risk is a complex phenomenon. The LACE index accounts only for the patient's length of stay, the acuity of the admission, existing comorbidities, and the number of times the patient has visited the emergency department in the last 6 months. This literature review discussed the influence of age, medication,

laboratory results, and healthcare utilization on 30-day readmission risk providing foundational support for further research of the variables and the possible inclusion of the variables into a modified risk prediction model. Chapter 3 consists of a more detailed explanation of the study's methodology and contains the study design and rationale, population, sampling and data collection procedures, data analysis plan, and ethical considerations.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict the risk of 30-day readmission for heart failure patients and explore whether the addition of demographic and clinical variables improved the performance of the model. This chapter contains a discussion of the methodology of the study, including the research design, study population, sampling procedures, data collection process, and the data analysis plan. This chapter also includes threats to the validity of the study, ethical concerns, and data protection measures taken.

Research Design and Rationale

For this study, I used a quantitative, correlational study design using retrospective data to compare an established readmission risk prediction model to a modified version. Correlational research explores the relationship between variables and assesses the statistical relationship without manipulation (Lau, 2017). The selected study methodology was appropriate because I extracted quantitative data through a retrospective review of the EMR system, and the manipulation of the variables of interest was not required to address the research questions. The choice of methodology was consistent with previous studies (e.g., Calderon et al., 2018; Regmi et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2014), in which researchers assessed the ability of the LACE index to predict the risk of 30-day readmission in patients with heart failure and examined additional predictors of 30-day readmission.

The dependent variable was readmission to an acute care hospital within 30 days of discharge from the initial hospital admission, regardless of the diagnosis at the time of readmission. The independent variables included the patient's length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, number of emergency department visits in the previous 6 months, age, number of medications prescribed to the patient, a prescription for a BB, ACE, or ARB, serum albumin and BUN levels, access to a primary care physician, and number of inpatient admissions in the previous 12 months. Race was examined as a covariate.

Methodology

Population, Sample, and Sampling Procedures

The intended target population for this research was adults aged 18 and older hospitalized for heart failure at an acute care hospital. A convenience sampling technique was used to select a study sample that included adults with an inpatient hospital stay and a billing diagnosis of heart failure during the specified time frame. Convenience sampling is a nonprobability sampling method widely used in clinical research where participants are selected based on their availability and accessibility (Elfil & Negida, 2017). I chose this sampling method because convenience sampling is inexpensive and allowed for the extraction of readily available information from the EMR system based on inclusion and exclusion criteria. However, it should be acknowledged that convenience sampling is vulnerable to selection bias and lacks clear generalizability, which may yield biased estimates of the target population (Jager et al., 2017).

The study setting was a healthcare system located in New York, consisting of six acute care hospitals. The inclusion criteria for the study's participants were set as adults aged 18 and older with an ICD-10 billing diagnosis of heart failure during the index

admission and hospitalization in one of the six hospitals from January 2019 to December 2019. Patients younger than 18 years old and those without an active billing diagnosis of heart failure were excluded.

G*Power 3.1 software was used to calculate the sample size required to have sufficient power to detect a meaningful effect. The G*Power program is commonly used in social, behavioral, and biomedical research as a stand-alone tool to conduct power analysis for statistical tests (Faul et al., 2007). For this research, an a priori analysis based on logistic regression was performed to determine the sample size. Based on standard social science practices, sample size analysis was conducted using an alpha level of .05, an odds ratio of 1.3 (representative of effect size), and 80% power (Chinn, 2000; Cohen, 1988).

Data Collection

Patient-level characteristics and readmission data were extracted from the EMR system once I received Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval from Walden University (Approval no. 07-08-21-0726119) and an IRB exemption letter from the study site. The extraction of data from patient medical records allowed me to overcome the inherent limitations of administrative datasets, including a lack of clinical specificity for conditions and laboratory results (see Mahmoudi et al., 2020). The secondary data collected comprised information available during a routine hospitalization, and there was no personal contact with study participants.

The healthcare system's EMRs are maintained and supported by EPIC software. To extract the data for patients that meet the inclusion criteria, a report was created with the variables of interest with the assistance of the information technology team that services the healthcare system. Only information necessary to answer the research question was collected from the EMRs. Data for the study sample were uploaded into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet where the patients were assigned a random number to help protect their identity.

Operationalization of Constructs

LACE Index

The LACE index was derived from a Canadian population of medical and surgical patients by van Walraven et al. (2010) to predict the risk of death or unplanned readmission within 30 days after discharge from the hospital. The researchers examined 48 patient-level variables and found that length of stay, acuity of the admission (admission through the emergency department), comorbidity of the patient (measured by the Charlson comorbidity index score), and emergency department use in the previous 6 months were independently associated with the outcomes of interest. To build the risk prediction model, van Walraven et al. created categories within each of the four significant variables and assigned points to each categorical level. A patient's LACE index score is the sum of the categories applicable to the patient, with scores ranging from 1 to 19. The readmission risk classification is as follows: 0-4 low risk, 5-9 moderate risk, ≥ 10 high risk. Appendix A contains details on the composition and weighted values of the LACE index variables.

van Walraven et al. (2010) internally validated the LACE index using data collected from 4,812 patients and used administrative data on a random sample of

1,000,000 patients discharged from Ontario hospitals to perform an external validation. To measure the ability of the LACE index to discriminate between patients who experienced the outcomes of interest and those who did not experience the outcomes of interest, the researchers published the concordance (*c*) statistic with the corresponding 95% confidence intervals. The model's overall calibration was summarized using a Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test. The *c* statistics for all cohorts revealed moderate discrimination: derivation cohort 0.7114 (95% CI [0.6736, 0.7491]), internal validation cohort 0.6935 (95% CI [0.6548, 0.7321]), and external validation cohort 0.684 (95% CI [0.679, 0.691]). The results of the Hosmer–Lemeshow statistic demonstrated a well-calibrated model and were as follows: derivation cohort 18.7 (*p* = .42) and the validation cohort 14.1 (*p* = .59). van Walraven et al. concluded that the LACE index was appropriate to use to quantify the risk of death or unplanned readmission within 30 days of discharge and demonstrated that the LACE index could be used with primary and administrative data.

The LACE index was used in this study as a tool to predict the risk of 30-day readmission in a population of heart failure patients and served as the gold standard to which the *c* statistic of the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model was compared. Dr. Carl van Walraven granted permission to use the LACE index (see Appendix B). The previous use of the LACE index in the heart failure population was discussed in depth in Chapter 2 and will not be reexamined.

Variable Descriptions

The measurements of the variables were based on recommendations and standard practices found in the literature. However, the way the variables were recorded in the EMRs also had to be considered. The next section will describe the operationalization of the variables of interest. If the individual independent variable was found to be a significant predictor of readmission (p < .05), the measurement of the variable may have been adjusted to create the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model.

Dependent Variable

The dependent variable for the study was all-cause 30-day readmission, as defined by CMS. The study site's EMR system maintains patient-level data on the occurrence of a 30-day readmission to any of the six facilities. The dependent variable was measured as dichotomous and defined as 1 = readmitted within 30 days and 0 = not readmitted.

Independent Variables

LACE Index. The operationalization of the LACE index score was previously described in detail. Additionally, the individual variables of the LACE index were investigated as independent predictors of 30-day readmission and were defined and measured similarly to the research by van Walraven et al. (2010).

Age. Age was measured as a ratio variable. For the modified 30-day readmission risk model, the age categories corresponded to the values used by Chamberlain et al. (2018) to develop the Readmission After Heart Failure (RAHF) scale (18–64, 65–84, and > 85).

Prescription Medication. Data were extracted related to the overall number of medications prescribed to the patient (inpatient and outpatient) and the prescription of BB, ACE inhibitors, and ARB. The data was taken from the list of active medications within the patient's EMR, with the exception of over-the-counter medicine. The process of medication reconciliation, the comparison of a patient's medication orders to the medicines the patient verbalizes they are taking, occurs at hospital admission and discharge with the intent to create a complete and accurate list. For the simple logistic regression calculations, the number of prescriptions was considered a ratio variable, and the prescription of the specific medications was nominal. To create the modified risk prediction model, the number of prescriptions (i.e., 1-3, 4-6, > 7) was based on research by Picker et al. (2015).

Laboratory Results. For laboratory data, the serum albumin and BUN levels before discharge were extracted. Due to restrictions in the dataset, the variable was measured as dichotomous and defined as 0 = normal or 1 = abnormal.

Access to a Primary Care Physician. At the time of hospital admission, patients are asked to provide the name of their primary care physician as part of the required documentation. Access to a primary care physician was a dichotomous variable and defined as 1 = primary care physician listed in the EMR and 0 = primary care physician not listed in the EMR.

Inpatient Admissions in the Previous 12 Months. The selection of the 1-year timeframe and measurement as a continuous variable was based on research by McLaren

et al. (2016). The variable was divided into categories for the modified risk prediction model (0, 1, 2, 3, >3; McLaren et al., 2016).

Race. Race was examined as a covariate. Based on conventional definitions, the variable was categorized as White, Black, Hispanic, and Asian.

Table 1 contains the measurement definitions for the dependent and independent variables, and Table 2 contains the categories used for the modified risk prediction model.

Table 1

| Variable name | Measurement | |
|---|--|--|
| 30-day all-cause readmission | 0 = No readmission within 30 days | |
| | I = Readmission within 30 days | |
| LACE index | LACE index score | |
| Length of stay | Length of stay in days | |
| Acuity of the admission | 0 = Emergent admission 1 = Elective admission | |
| Comorbidity score | Charlson comorbidity index score | |
| Emergency department (ED) use | Number of ED visits in past 6 months | |
| Age | Age in years | |
| Number of prescriptions | Number of inpatient and outpatient prescriptions | |
| Prescribed beta blocker (BB) | 0 = BB not prescribed 1 = BB prescribed | |
| Prescribed angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE) | 0 = ACE not prescribed 1 = ACE prescribed | |
| Prescribed angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) | 0 = ARB not prescribed 1 = ARB prescribed | |
| Serum blood urea nitrogen (BUN) level | 0 = Normal 1 = Abnormal | |
| Serum albumin level | 0 = Normal 1 = Abnormal | |
| Primary care physician (PCP) | 0 = PCP not listed in the EMR 1 = PCP listed in the EMR | |
| Number of inpatient admissions Race | Number of inpatient admissions in the previous 12 months 0 = White 1 = Black 2 = Hispanic 3 = Asian | |

Variable Measurement for Simple Logistic Regression Analyses

Table 2

| Variable name | Measurement |
|---|--|
| Length of stay | <1 1 2 3 4-6 7-13 ≥ 14 |
| Acuity of admission | Emergent admission Elective admission |
| Charlson comorbidity index | $ \begin{array}{c} 0\\ 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ \geq 4 \end{array} $ |
| Emergency department (ED) visits | $ \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ \geq 4 \end{array} $ |
| Age Number of prescriptions | 18-64 65-84 > 85 1-3 4-6 |
| Prescription for BB, ACE, or ARB Serum ALB and BUN level | > 7 Not prescribed Prescribed Normal Abnormal |
| Primary care physician | Primary care physician not listed in the EMR Primary care physician listed in EMR |
| Inpatient admissions | 0 1 2 3 > 3 |

Variable Measurement for Modified Risk Prediction Model

Data Analysis Plan

Data Cleaning Procedures

The secondary dataset was subjected to data cleaning procedures before the statistical analyses were performed in SPSS to improve the quality of the data. The data cleaning methods used in this research study were based on the data cleaning framework proposed by Van den Broeck et al. (2005). First, formatting errors were addressed, and duplicate entries were deleted. Medical records missing data for any of the variables of interest were excluded from the analysis, as all independent variables were required to calculate the LACE index and the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model score. The dataset was screened for outliers and lack of/excess data through graphical presentations of distributions, frequency distributions, summary statistics, and statistical outlier detection. According to Van den Broeck et al., outliers are diagnosed as erroneous, true extreme, true normal, or idiopathic (suspect but not explained), and suspicious points should be investigated for possible measurement or transcription errors. No outliers or data issues were detected within the dataset.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1: What is the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients?

 H_0 1: The LACE index does not have statistically significant discriminative accuracy.

 H_1 1: The LACE index does have statistically significant discriminative accuracy.

Research Question 2: Do length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician statistically significantly predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients?

 H_02 : Length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician do not predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients.

 H_12 : Length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician do predict all-cause 30day readmission in heart failure patients.

Research Question 3: Is there a combination of potential predictors (length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician) that results in a higher predictive value (*c* statistic) than LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients?

 H_0 3: There is no difference in the *c* statistic between the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model and the LACE index.

 H_1 3: There is a difference in the *c* statistic between the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model and the LACE index.

Statistical Analysis Plan

SPSS (Version 27) was used to analyze the data collected for this study. Pertinent characteristics of the study sample were expressed as descriptive statistics. Descriptive statistics allowed for a comparison between the current study population and the study samples used in the literature.

To investigate the first research question, the LACE index score was calculated at the patient level. The discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict the risk of 30-day readmission was assessed using the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve (ROC). The result of the analysis was reported as a concordance (*c*) statistic with the accompanying 95% confidence interval. The ROC curve is a measure of discrimination, the ability of a model to distinguish between patients who experienced the event of interest from those who did not (Caetano et al., 2018). The interpretation of the ROC curve is as follows: a value of 0.5 signifies the model is no better than random chance, values of 0.60 to 0.70 indicate poor discrimination, values of 0.70 to 0.80 represent adequate power of discrimination, and values of 0.80 to 0.90 indicate excellent discrimination (Grant et al., 2018). Additionally, the sensitivity and specificity of the LACE index at different cutoff points was explored.

SPSS uses a nonparametric method to calculate the ROC curve and produce the *c* statistic (IBM Knowledge Center, n.d.). Although nonparametric tests are not subject to assumptions of probability distribution, the assumption of independence should not be violated; therefore, the groups must be mutually exclusive. For this study, this assumption was supported because study participants were either admitted to an acute care facility within 30 days of discharge or not readmitted within 30 days of discharge.

Logistic regression was used to address the second research question. Multivariable logistic regression can be used to determine whether specific variables are associated with a binary outcome (Grant et al., 2019). The purpose of this question was to explore if length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician independently predict 30day readmission in the heart failure population. The assumptions of binary logistic regression include a dichotomous dependent variable, one or more continuous or categorical independent variables, independent observations, linearity in the logit of continuous independent variables, and a lack of strongly influential outliers. The assumptions concerning the coding of the study variables and the independence of observations were supported by the study's design, and influential outliers were addressed during the data cleaning process. The linearity in the logit of continuous independent variables was tested in SPSS using the Box-Tidwell test. Independent variables that violated the assumption of linearity and the logs odd were recoded into

categorical variables. The odds ratio, 95% confidence interval, and p value were reported for each variable.

To address the third research question, the variables found to be independent predictors of readmission (p < .05) were included in a modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model. A method proposed by Sullivan et al. (2004) and applied by van Walraven et al. to create the LACE index was used to modify the logistic regression model into a risk score. The ROC curve was calculated for the modified risk prediction model so that the *c* statistics of the LACE index and the modified model could be compared. A stratified analysis was conducted to determine if a patient's race affected the discriminative accuracy of the models for predicting the risk of readmission.

Potential Covariate

The ROC curve of a risk prediction model is a pooled analysis of the average performance in the study population, and the possibility exists that the predictive model performs differently in subgroup analysis. A method initially recommended by Pepe (1997) was applied to address potential covariates. According to Janes and Pepe (2008), covariates that affect the ROC curve are equivalent to effect modifiers, and the authors suggest that separate ROC curves should be estimated for each subgroup. In this research, race was considered a possible covariate because researchers have consistently found that race is a significant predictor of 30-day readmission rates in heart failure patients (Downing et al., 2018; Lloren et al., 2019; Mirkin et al., 2017). Further, the association has been found to persist after adjusting for patient characteristics, socioeconomic status, and hospital factors (Pandey et al., 2019; Ziaeian et al., 2017). Race was not included in

the LACE index or the modified version; therefore, there was a possibility that the variable could influence the performance of the 30-day readmission risk prediction models.

Validity

Aspects of the study design may threaten the internal and external validity of the study. Internal validity is the degree of confidence that the relationships established by the researcher signify a true finding, whereas external validity evaluates the generalizability of the results (Patino & Ferreira, 2018). The use of EMRs as the data source threatened the internal validity of this study. The EMRs may not have contained all the required information to sufficiently address the relationship between the variables, or the recorded data may not have been accurate, possibly leading to unmeasured and inadequately measured confounders (Andrade, 2021). The external validity of this study was threatened by the use of convenience sampling. The use of convenience sampling only allows the research results to be generalized to the population used to select the study participants or populations with similar characteristics (Andrade, 2021). The effects of the mentioned threats to the internal and external validity of this study will be discussed in further detail in Chapter 4.

Ethical Procedures and Data Protections

IRB approval was granted from Walden University before the research was begun to ensure that the research followed Walden University's ethical standards and U.S. federal regulations. It was also necessary to obtain a separate IRB approval and a data user agreement from the healthcare system that served as the data source. After review, the IRB at the healthcare system determined the research to be exempt and the Chief Information Officer granted permission to conduct data collection. Before beginning the research, I completed the Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI) course for Doctoral Student Researchers (Completion Record ID: 39762547).

The data for this research study were de-identified, private, and confidential. The dataset was password protected and opened only on computers protected by anti-virus software. Due to the use of medical information, the research also needed to comply with Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) regulations, which protects sensitive patient health information from being disclosed without the patient's consent or knowledge. Measures, such as de-identifying the dataset and proof of IRB approval, complied with the HIPAA Privacy Rule. The data collected for this study will be destroyed seven years after submission to ProQuest.

Summary

For this study, a quantitative, correlational study design was utilized to explore the utility of two risk prediction models, the LACE index and a modified version, in predicting the risk of readmission in a population of heart failure patients. The chosen methodology also allowed for the examination of length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, number of inpatient hospitalizations in the previous 12 months, and access to a primary care physician as independent predictors of readmission. Chapter 3 contained the research design and rationale, sampling procedures, data collection methods, and the data analysis plan. Chapter 4 consists of an in-depth description of the sample population characteristics and the results of the research.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the use of the LACE index for predicting all-cause 30-day readmission among heart failure patients, to examine additional variables that have been recognized in the literature as influencing the risk of readmission, and to build a modified risk model based on the statistically significant variables. In Chapter 4, I describe the data collection process and the statistical findings related to the descriptive characteristics of the study sample and the data analysis.

Data Collection

I collected data from the EMRs of patients from a heart failure registry maintained by a healthcare system located in Long Island, New York. I intended to extract data from January 2019 to December 2019, but due to the size of the dataset, the timeframe was reduced to January 2019 to June 2019. The dataset did not differentiate between an inpatient hospitalization and a surgical encounter; therefore, data on the number of inpatient hospitalizations in the past year were not collected, and the variable could not be examined as an independent predictor of all-cause 30-day readmission. Additionally, the structure of the dataset required the laboratory values to be measured as dichotomous, normal versus abnormal.

Sample Characteristics

The study sample consisted of 655 patients admitted with a diagnosis of heart failure to one of the six acute care facilities managed by the study site. The prevalence of readmission within 30 days of discharge was 11.3%. The study sample included 331 (50.5%) males and 324 (49.5%) females. The average age of the study participant was 77

years old, and an overwhelming majority (83.5%) of the study sample identified as White. The baseline demographic characteristics of the sample are reported in Table 3.

Table 3

| Variable | Frequency | Percent |
|----------------|-----------|---------|
| Readmission | | |
| Not readmitted | 581 | 88.7 |
| Readmitted | 74 | 11.3 |
| Gender | | |
| Male | 331 | 50.5 |
| Female | 324 | 49.5 |
| Race | | |
| White | 547 | 83.5 |
| Black | 74 | 11.3 |
| Hispanic | 21 | 3.2 |
| Asian | 13 | 2.0 |
| Age | | |
| 18 to 64 | 139 | 21.2 |
| 65 to 84 | 252 | 38.5 |
| 85 and older | 264 | 40.3 |

Baseline Demographic Characteristics

Due to the use of a nonprobability sampling frame, the representativeness of the sample to the population of interest was important to consider. According to Weiss and Jiang (2021), the national 30-day readmission rate for heart failure patients is 22.9%, higher than the readmission rate found in the present study. Additionally, although the sample population is comparable to the current literature based on gender and age, the categorization of the sample by race is not representative of the national heart failure population.

Despite the homogeneity of the sample, univariate analysis was performed to justify the inclusion of race as a covariate in the model. I examined the relationship

between race and all-cause 30-day readmission using simple binary logistic regression, and the result of the analysis was not statistically significant. However, the relationship between race and the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index in predicting the risk of 30-day readmission in heart failure patients was still explored for the third research question based on evidence found in the current literature.

Descriptive Statistics

The characteristics of the sample population were analyzed based on the independent variables of interest. The average length of stay was found to be 6 days, with patients most frequently staying in the hospital for 3 days. The patient's comorbidity score was calculated using the modified Charlson comorbidity score used in the LACE index. The diseases and conditions considered included cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, diabetes, congestive heart failure, chronic pulmonary disease, kidney disease, connective tissue disease, AIDS, dementia, cancer, liver disease, and a history of myocardial infarction. The comorbidity scores ranged from 0 to 16, with an average score of 6. The most common comorbidity seen was kidney disease (48.9%), followed by diabetes (43.7%). Patients in the study sample were prescribed an average of 13 medications, with patients more frequently prescribed a BB medication (86.1%) when compared to an ACE (32.7%) or an ARB (32.5%). Abnormal serum albumin laboratory levels were found in 49.2% of the study sample, whereas 47.5% of the patients had abnormal serum BUN levels.

The acuity of the admission was defined as being admitted to the hospital through the ER. In the study sample, 99.5% of the patients were considered an acute admit. The disproportionate percentage observed can be explained by the infrequent practice by the study site of directly admitting patients to the hospital without first receiving care in the hospital ER. Having a primary care physician listed in the EMR was examined as a measure of access to care, and 99.5% of patients in the study sample had a doctor on record. Despite having access to a primary care physician, in the 6 months before the index admission, the patients visited the ER seven times on average, with the majority of patients having four ER visits. Further information regarding the descriptive statistics of the study sample can be found in Table 4.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics

| Variable | Frequency | Percent |
|----------------------------|-----------|---------|
| Length of stay | | |
| 1-3 | 248 | 37.9 |
| 4-6 | 196 | 29.9 |
| 7–13 | 162 | 24.7 |
| > 14 | 49 | 7 5 |
| Acuity of the admission | ., | 1.0 |
| Emergent | 652 | 99 5 |
| Elective | 3 | 5 |
| Charlson comorbidity index | J | |
| 1 to 4 | 179 | 27.3 |
| 5 to 8 | 316 | 48.2 |
| 9 to 12 | 145 | 22.1 |
| 13 to 16 | 14 | 2.1 |
| > 17 | 1 | .2 |
| Number of ED visits | - | |
| 0-4 | 202 | 30.8 |
| > 5 | 453 | 69.2 |
| Age | | |
| 18-64 | 139 | 21.2 |
| 65-84 | 252 | 38.5 |
| > 85 | 264 | 40.3 |
| Number of prescriptions | - | |
| 1–3 | 5 | .8 |
| 4-6 | 46 | 7 |
| > 7 | 604 | 92.2 |
| Beta Blocker | | , |
| Prescribed | 564 | 86.1 |
| Not Prescribed | 91 | 13.9 |
| Prescription of ACE | | |
| Prescribed | 214 | 32.7 |
| Not Prescribed | 441 | 67.3 |
| Prescription of ARB | | |
| Prescribed | 213 | 32.5 |
| Not Prescribed | 442 | 67.5 |
| BUN | | |
| Normal | 344 | 52.5 |
| Abnormal | 311 | 47.5 |
| ALB | - | |
| Normal | 333 | 50.8 |
| Abnormal | 322 | 49.2 |
| Primary Care Physician | | |
| PCP listed in EMR | 652 | 99.5 |
| No PCP listed in EMR | 3 | .5 |

Statistical Assumptions

To explore the discriminative accuracy of the 30-day readmission risk models to predict all-cause 30-day readmission, I used the ROC curve, a nonparametric test not subjected to the assumptions of probability distribution. Binary logistic regression was performed to examine the independent predictors of all-cause 30-day readmission for the heart failure patient. The assumption of the linearity in the logit of continuous independent variables was tested in SPSS using the Box-Tidwell test, and the Cook's D was used to detect strongly influential outliers. The SPPS Box Tidwell results showed that the number of ER visits violated the assumption of linearity in the logit, and the variable was transformed into a categorical variable for the binary logistic analysis. Based on research by Locker et al. (2007) that established the definition of frequent use of an emergency room commonly found in the literature, I defined the variable as dichotomous (0–4, >4). The results of the Cook's D analysis did not indicate the presence of strongly influential outliers in the dataset.

Statistical Analyses Results

Research Question 1

Research Question 1: What is the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients?

 H_0 1: The LACE index does not have statistically significant discriminative accuracy.

 H_1 1: The LACE index does have statistically significant discriminative accuracy.
For this research question, I calculated the individual LACE index scores for the patients in the study population and assigned them to a risk category (see Table 5). The ROC curve was calculated in SPSS, and sensitivity and specificity were examined. A patient with a LACE index score of 10 or greater is considered at a high risk for readmission according to van Walraven et al. (2010); therefore, sensitivity and specificity were examined at the value closest to 10. For a cut-point value of 9.5, the LACE index had high sensitivity (1.0) and a high false-positive rate (.991). Next, I examined the area under the curve value (*c* statistic) to investigate the model's discriminative accuracy to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients. The calculated *p* value was statistically significant, and the *c* statistic was .616 (p = .001; 95% CI [0.550, 0.681]; see Table 6). The null hypothesis was rejected.

Table 5

Frequency of the LACE Index Risk Classification

| LACE index risk classification | Number | Percent |
|--------------------------------|--------|---------|
| Low risk (0–4) | 0 | 0 |
| Moderate risk (5–9) | 5 | 0.8 |
| High risk (>10) | 650 | 99.2 |

Table 6

| \mathbf{L} | $L_1 CL mues NOC Curve mui ysi$ |
|--------------|---------------------------------|
|--------------|---------------------------------|

| | | | | Asymptotic 95% CI | |
|---|------|------------|----------------|-------------------|-------------|
| A | Area | Std. Error | Asymptotic Sig | Lower Bound | Upper Bound |
| | 616 | .033 | .001 | .550 | .681 |

Note. CI = confidence interval.

Research Question 2

Research Question 2: Do length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, and access to a primary care physician statistically significantly predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients?

 H_02 : Length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, and access to a primary care physician do not predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients.

 H_12 : Length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, and access to a primary care physician do predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients.

I performed binary logistic regression and examined each variable as an independent predictor of all-cause 30-day readmission for heart failure patients. The dependent variable was all-cause 30-day readmission (0 = no readmission within 30 days of the index admission; 1 = readmitted within 30-days of the index admission). The independent variables examined were length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidities, emergency department visits in the previous 6 months, age, laboratory results for BUN and ALB, number of medications prescribed to the patient, a prescription for a BB, ACE, or ARB, and having a primary care physician listed in the EMR. Table 7 presents a summary of the binary logistic regression results. The following section will

review the independent variables as predictors of all-cause 30-day readmission.

Table 7

| | | | | 95% CI | |
|-------------------------|--------|------|-------|--------|--------|
| Variable | В | Sig. | OR | Lower | Upper |
| Length of stay | .041 | .024 | 1.042 | 1.005 | 1.079 |
| Acuity of the admission | -1.378 | .263 | .252 | .023 | 2.815 |
| Comorbidity score | .132 | .002 | 1.141 | 1.051 | 1.239 |
| ED utilization | -2.202 | .000 | .111 | .040 | .307 |
| Age | .002 | .785 | 1.002 | .985 | 1.020 |
| BUN result | .053 | .831 | 1.054 | .650 | 1.711 |
| ALB result | 532 | .035 | .587 | .358 | .963 |
| BB use | .318 | .334 | 1.374 | .721 | 2.618 |
| ARB use | .075 | .779 | 1.078 | .639 | 1.816 |
| ACE use | .227 | .404 | 1.255 | .736 | 2.141 |
| Number of medicines | .061 | .006 | 1.063 | 1.017 | 1.111 |
| Primary care physician | 1.378 | .263 | 3.966 | .355 | 44.277 |

Summary of Simple Binary Logistic Regression

Note. CI = confidence interval.

Length of Stay

LOS was a statistically significant predictor of all-cause 30-day readmission for heart failure patients (p = .024). Given that the p value was significant, the odds ratio can be interpreted. This finding suggests that a one day increase in the length of stay leads to a 4% increase in the odds of readmission within 30 days of the index admission (OR =1.042; $\beta = .041$; 95% CI [1.005, 1.079]). The null hypothesis was rejected.

Acuity of the Admission

The variable, acuity of the admission, which determines if the patient was

emergently or electively admitted, was not statistically significant (p = .26). There is no

association between the route of admission and all-cause 30-day readmission. The null hypothesis was retained.

Comorbidity Score

A statistically significant association was detected between a patient's comorbidity score and all-cause 30-day readmission (p = .002). The positive odds ratio indicates that a 1 point increase in comorbidity score leads to a 13% increase in the odds of readmission (OR = 1.141; $\beta = .132$; 95% CI [1.051, 1.239]). The null hypothesis was rejected.

Emergency Department Visits in the Previous 6 Months

As a continuous variable, emergency department visits violated the assumption of linearity in the logit; consequently, the variable was recoded as a categorical variable. The result of the binary logistic regression calculation was statistically significant (p = .000). A negative beta coefficient and an odds ratio of less than 1 suggests that as the number of ED visits increases, the patient's odds of readmission within 30-days decreases (OR = .111; $\beta = -2.202$; 95% CI [0.040, 0.307]). The null hypothesis was rejected.

Age

The *p* value for age was not statistically significant (p = .785); therefore, the values within the model could not be considered. The null hypothesis was retained.

Laboratory Results

Serum BUN and ALB were examined individually as pertinent laboratory values for predicting all-cause 30-day readmission in the heart failure population. ALB was analyzed as a dichotomized variable with an abnormal result defined as less than 3.0 g/dl or greater than 4.8 g/dl, and a BUN greater than 45 mg/dL was considered abnormal. While the *p* value for BUN was not statistically significant (*p* = .831), a statistically significant *p* value was detected for ALB (*p* = .035). These findings indicate that although there is no association between BUN results and all-cause 30-day readmission, those with a normal ALB result are .587 times less likely to be readmitted within 30-day than those with an abnormal ALB result (*OR* = .587; β = -.532; 95% CI [0.358, 0.963]). The null hypothesis was retained with regards to BUN but rejected for ALB results.

Medication Usage

The individual binary logistic regression models for a prescription for a BB, ARB, or ACE medication were not statistically significant (p = .334, p = .779, p = .404, respectively). The null hypothesis was retained. The odds ratio and confidence intervals were not examined. In contrast, the number of medications prescribed to the patient was significantly associated with all-cause 30-day readmission (p = .006). These results suggest that as the number of medications prescribed to the patient 's odds of being readmitted within 30 days of the index admission increases (OR = 1.063; $\beta = .061$; 95% CI [1.017, 1.111]). The null hypothesis was rejected.

Primary Care Physician

The association between the patient having a primary care physician listed in the EMR and all-cause 30-day readmission was determined to be not statistically significant (p = .263). The null hypothesis was retained.

I did not consider an inclusive model with all the variables because the purpose of the research question was to determine which variables independently predicted all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients so that a modified risk model could be developed.

Research Question 3

Research Question 3: Is there a combination of potential predictors (length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency department utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, and access to a primary care physician) that results in a higher predictive value (*c* statistic) than LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients?

 H_0 3: There is no difference in the *c* statistic between the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model and the LACE index.

 H_1 3: There is a difference in the *c* statistic between the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model and the LACE index.

The creation of the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model was based on the method developed by Sullivan et al. (2004) to create a points system that allowed the complex statistical models in the Framingham Heart study to be useful for practitioners. van Walraven et al. (2010) applied this method to develop the LACE index. Table 8 displays the assigned points for the statistically significant variables established by the binary logistic regression calculations. The number of ER visits was omitted because an increase in the number of visits decreased the odds of 30-day readmission suggesting a protective relationship. ALB results were also excluded due to the negative beta coefficient. The level of risk assigned to the number of points was based on the categories established by van Walraven et al. (2010) to facilitate the comparison between the two models; 0-4 (low risk), 5-9 (moderate risk), ≥ 10 (high risk). Table 9 contains the number of patients classified by risk category.

Table 8

Modified 30-day Readmission Risk Prediction Model Point System

| Variable | Categories | Points |
|-------------------------|------------|--------|
| Number of comorbidities | 1–4 | 0 |
| | 5–8 | 2 |
| | 9–12 | 4 |
| | ≥13 | 5 |
| LOS | 1–3 | 0 |
| | 4–6 | 0 |
| | 7–13 | 1 |
| | ≥ 14 | 3 |
| Number of medications | 1–3 | 0 |
| | 4–6 | 1 |
| | \geq 7 | 3 |

Note. A constant of 0.2875 used based on Sullivan et al. (2004).

Table 9

Frequency of the Modified Risk Model Classification

| Modified risk model category | Frequency | Percent |
|------------------------------|-----------|---------|
| Low risk (0–4) | 194 | 29.6 |
| Moderate risk (5–9) | 447 | 68.2 |
| High risk (≥ 10) | 14 | 2.1 |

The ROC curve for the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model was calculated in SPSS to answer the third research question. The p value associated with the ROC curve for the modified risk prediction model was found to be statistically significant

(p = .001), and the *c* statistic was .618 (95% CI [0.555, 0.681]). A comparison of the *c* statistics revealed a slight difference between the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model and the LACE index. The null hypothesis was rejected.

Race was examined as a covariate based on evidence identified in the literature. The categories of race were defined as White, Black, Hispanic, and Asian. The ROC curves were calculated individually to compare the performance of the models based on race (see Table 10). When only those who identified as white were considered, the discriminative accuracy (c statistic) of the LACE index improved and was higher than the discriminative accuracy of the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model (c = .648 vs. c = .635). The ROC curves for both the LACE index and the modified risk prediction model were not statistically significant for the Black, Hispanic, and Asian categories.

Table 10

| Race | LACE index ROC curve | | Modified model ROC curve | | | |
|----------|----------------------|------|--------------------------|------|------|----------------|
| | С | р | 95% CI | С | р | 95% CI |
| White | .648 | .000 | [0.581, 0.715] | .635 | .000 | [0.566, 0.704] |
| Black | .348 | .314 | [0.190, 0.578] | .473 | .817 | [0.296, 0.651] |
| Hispanic | .775 | .364 | [0.546, 1.000] | .725 | .457 | [0.486, 0.964] |
| Asian | .295 | .183 | [0.000, 0.655] | .477 | .921 | [0.133, 0.821] |

ROC Curve by Race

Note. ROC = Receiver Operating Characteristic; c = concordance statistic; CI =

confidence interval.

Summary

Three research questions were examined using SPSS to better understand the topic of all-cause 30-day readmission. The first research question used the ROC curve to

assess the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in the heart failure population. The result of the analysis was statistically significant, and the model had poor discriminative accuracy to predict all-cause 30-day readmission. The second research question examined several independent predictors of all-cause 30-day readmission discussed within the current literature. When examined individually, the independent variables (age, primary care physician, a prescription for BB, ARB, or ACE, BUN result, and the acuity of the admission) were not statistically significantly associated with all-cause 30-day readmission. The number of ER visits, comorbidity score, length of stay, ALB result, and the number of medications prescribed were determined to be statistically significantly associated with all-cause 30-day readmission. The intent of the third research question was to develop a modified risk model based on the statistically significant variables that would be compared to the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index. Though the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model also demonstrated poor discrimination, it was a slight improvement over the performance of the LACE index. Lastly, the models' performances were compared across race. The results of the ROC curve analyses were statistically significant only for those heart failure patients who identified as white. Statistical significance was not detected for the other race categories.

The findings of the study will be explained further in Chapter 5. Chapter 5 will discuss the results of the study in the context of what is known on the subject matter. Additionally, the limitations of the study, recommendations for further research, and implications for social change will be provided.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The intent of this study was to provide a further understanding of all-cause 30-day readmission in the heart failure population. In this quantitative study, I used secondary data from the EMRs of 655 heart failure patients. The purpose of the study was to examine the use of the LACE index in the sample population and develop a modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model using additional variables found to be statistically significant predictors of all-cause 30-day readmission.

Using SPSS (Version 27), I explored three research questions. The first and third research questions used the ROC curve analysis as the statistical test, and the second research question used simple binary logistic regression. In this chapter, I summarize the study findings, the limitations of the research, recommendations for further research, and the implications for social change.

Interpretation of Findings

Research Question 1

For Research Question 1, the ROC curve analysis was used to evaluate the performance of the LACE index. The c statistic in the SPSS ROC curve analysis was used to determine whether the model could accurately distinguish between heart failure patients who were readmitted within 30 days of discharge from heart failure patients who were not readmitted. A c statistic value of 0.5 suggests the model is no better than random chance for classifying the outcome, and a value of 1 indicates the model perfectly classifies the outcome. Based on the c statistic, I found the LACE index to have poor

discriminative accuracy to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in the sample of heart failure patients (c = .616, 95% CI [.550, .681], p = .001).

The plotting of the ROC curve provides information on the sensitivity and specificity of the risk prediction model and allows for the discussion of an optimal cutpoint value, which is where most individuals are classified correctly (Perkins & Schisterman, 2006). van Walraven et al. (2010) defined a high risk of readmission within 30 days as a LACE index score of 10 or greater. At a cut-point value of 9.5, the LACE index had a high true positive rate (sensitivity) and a very low true negative rate (specificity) when the ROC plot was examined. The low specificity of the LACE index suggests that the model may not be appropriate for clinical use in the study population.

The Index of Union method proposed by Unal (2017) suggests that the optimal cut-point value is one where the sensitivity and specificity are closest to the value of the area under the ROC curve. Using this method, the optimal cut-point value for the LACE index for predicting all-cause 30-day readmission for the study population was 15.5. However, with the cut-point value of 15.5, the probability that the LACE index would predict readmission when the patient was indeed readmitted (sensitivity) was only .662, indicating the LACE index incorrectly classified many of the patients in the study population.

Different statistical analyses have been applied within the literature focused on the performance of the LACE index, and the results demonstrate varying degrees of effectiveness of the LACE index for the heart failure population. The results of the current study are comparable to the ROC curve analysis performed by Ibrahim et al. (2020), who similarly examined the *c* statistic and concluded that the LACE index was not an effective predictor of 30-day readmission for patients with heart failure. The poor performance of the LACE index in the current study population could be the result of a difference in the predictor case-mix or the outcome variable when compared to the population used to derive the model (see Myers et al., 2020; Ramspek, et al., 2020). The original derivation of the LACE index by van Walraven et al. (2010) was completed on a population of medical-surgical patients in Canada with different sample demographics and a younger sample population. For example, in the LACE index derivation sample, 58.1% were emergent admissions, 75% of the patients had a comorbidity score of 0, and the average age was 61 years old. The patients included in the current study were predominantly White, emergent admissions, older than 75 years old, and had high comorbidity scores.

Additionally, to avoid bias created by censoring deaths, van Walraven et al. (2010) combined unplanned 30-day readmissions with death within 30-days as the outcome variable. I only examined 30-day readmission as the dependent or state variable for the ROC curve analysis. In van Walraven et al.'s study, 8% of the population experienced death or readmission within 30 days compared to 11.7% in the current study, with only 30-day readmissions measured. It is possible that the difference in sample characteristics and the outcome variable could account for the conflicting performances of the LACE index between the original research and this study.

A 30-day readmission risk prediction model that demonstrates moderate or excellent discrimination when applied to a specific population would be a valuable tool to integrate into the EMR to identify patients at a higher risk of experiencing a 30-day readmission. The poor discrimination, as evidenced by the *c* statistic, and the low sensitivity and specificity of the LACE index at different cut-point values suggest the LACE index would not accurately identify heart failure patients in the study population who are at risk for readmission. The results of this study do not support the integration of the LACE index into the EMR system at the study site for heart failure patients.

Research Question 2

The Andersen model (1968) provided the framework for exploring the independent variables as influencing factors on all-cause 30-day readmission. The Andersen model assumes that healthcare utilization depends on predisposing, enabling, and need factors (Andersen & Newman, 2005). The independent variables chosen based on a review of the literature were length of stay, acuity of the admission, comorbidity score, emergency room utilization, age, serum albumin and BUN levels, number of prescription medications, prescriptions for heart medications, and access to a primary care physician. With the exception of age and access to a primary care physician, the previous literature established these variables as need factors (Kaya et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2017). Age and the covariate, race, have been categorized as predisposing factors, and access to a primary care physician has been viewed as an enabling factor (Hirshfield et al., 2018; Lederle et al., 2021; Li et al., 2016). Similar to Smith et al. (2017) and Kaya et al. (2019), the current study found that the statistically significant predictors of all-cause 30-day readmission were need factors.

Simple logistic regression analyses were conducted to determine the relationship between the independent variables and all-cause 30-day readmission. Having a primary care physician listed in the EMR, acuity of the admission, age, serum BUN level, and a prescription for BB, ARB, or ACE inhibitors were not statistically significantly associated with all-cause 30-day readmission. The number of ER visits, length of stay, comorbidity score, serum albumin level, and the number of medications prescribed to the patient were determined to be statistically significantly associated with all-cause 30-day readmission. The results of the logistic regression were examined in the context of the current literature for each independent variable.

The finding of nonsignificant results for the variables primary care physician and acuity of the admission contradicts the previous literature that suggests these variables influence all-cause 30-day readmission in the heart failure population (Carlson et al., 2019; Tung et al., 2017). It is possible that the logistic regression calculations could not detect a significant difference with regards to the variables, access to a primary care physician and acuity of the admission, because of the baseline characteristics of the sample, 99.5% of the sample were acute admissions and 99.5% had a primary care physician listed in the EMR. It is possible that statistically significant relationships would have been detected if the study population had more variation in these two variables.

The literature examining age as an independent predictor of readmission in the heart failure population has been inconsistent. Though Chamberlain et al. (2018) found that age less than 65 years was independently associated with higher readmission risk after hospitalization, Whellan et al. (2016) found a dichotomous relationship. The

nonsignificant result found in the current study was consistent with research by Arora et al. (2017), in which the sample population had a narrow age range and were predominately older (73.3% older than 65 years), like in the current study. Mirkin et al. (2017) found the relationship between age and 30-day readmission was influenced by the discharge disposition, the setting to which the patient was discharged. I did not account for discharge location, and it is possible that this variable influenced the relationship between age and 30-day readmission.

A prescription for a BB, ARB, or ACE medication is recommended by the American College of Cardiology and the American Heart Association for heart failure patients. Researchers have supported the use of evidence-based medical therapy guidelines to improve health outcomes in the heart failure population (Lim et al., 2019; Loop et al., 2020; Sanam et al., 2016). However, the results of the logistic regression analyses in my study do not support the hypothesis that a prescription for a BB, ARB, or ACE medication reduced the likelihood of readmission. The discrepant results may partly be because I focused on all-cause 30-day readmission as the outcome of interest rather than a cardiovascular-related readmission. For instance, while Loop et al. (2020) found that a prescription for a BB was associated with a lower risk of heart failure readmission (HR = 0.79; 95% CI [0.76, 0.82]), a prescription for a BB was not significantly associated with all-cause readmission (HR = 1.02; 95% CI [0.97, 1.07]). All-cause 30-day readmission does not account for the diagnosis at the time of readmission. Research has shown that 51% of heart failure patients are readmitted within 30 days for a noncardiovascular diagnosis (Vader et al., 2016). Therefore, although previous research

has shown a prescription for heart medications may reduce the risk of heart diseaserelated outcomes, the variable may not influence all-cause 30-day readmission for the sample population. Additionally, the recommendation by the American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association is for patients to be prescribed a BB along with either an ARB or ACE medication, however, I examined the medication individually.

Serum BUN level was not statistically significantly associated with all-cause 30day readmission. This finding differs from previous research that linked elevated serum BUN levels to an increased risk of death and all-cause readmission (Bradford et al., 2017; Vader et al., 2016). Restrictions in the dataset I was provided required serum BUN levels to be examined as a dichotomous variable, normal versus abnormal. The dichotomizing of a continuous variable may lead to the loss of information, reducing the statistical power to detect a relationship between the variables of interest and creating the question of an optimal cutoff point (Altman & Royston, 2006). Based on research by Bradford et al. (2017), which had a purpose similar to my study, I defined an abnormal serum BUN level as greater than 45 mg/dL. When examining the literature related to serum BUN levels and cardiovascular disease, a lower cutoff point was frequently set, typically between 20 and 24 mg/dL (Ghrair et al., 2017; Jujo et al., 2017). The dichotomizing of the variable and the high cutoff point that defined an abnormal serum BUN could explain why the result of the logistic regression analysis was not statistically significant.

The number of times the patient visited the ER in the past 6 months before the index admission was a statistically significant predictor of all-cause 30-day readmissions

in heart failure patients (p = .00). The negative β associated with the logistic regression analysis for ER visits suggests the variable is a protective factor against all-cause 30-day readmission (B = -2.202). Though there is a lack of research in the area, this result was not consistent with the results of other studies. For example, Carlson et al. (2019) found that patients with a greater number of ER visits in the 6 months before the index admission were 50% more likely to be readmitted than those with a lower number of ER visits. The relationship I observed between ER visits and all-cause 30-day readmission may differ from what is found in the literature because the study site has a strong focus on preventing avoidable readmissions due to the monetary penalties imposed by CMS. The study site often utilizes observation status, when appropriate, to avoid an inpatient admission for patients unable to be directly discharged from the ER and has many homecare resources available to ensure safe patient discharge without an inpatient admission.

The result of the simple binary logistic regression analysis showed a statistically significant relationship between length of stay and all-cause 30-day readmission (p = .024). Patients readmitted within 30-days of the index admission had a statistically significantly longer length of stay (7.41 ± 6.4) compared to patients who were not readmitted (5.84 ± 5.3, p = .03). This finding was similar to Whittaker et al. (2015), who also examined the length of stay as a continuous variable and found a mean difference in length of stay of 3.4 days between patients who were readmitted and patients without a readmission. Other studies have also shown a longer length of stay is associated with an increased risk of readmission; however, length of stay was typically examined as a

categorical variable. For example, Roshanghalb et al. (2019) found that patients with a LOS over 5 days were at an increased risk for 30-day readmission when compared with those with a length of stay less than 5 days (OR = 1.58; 95% CI [1.15, 2.15]). A meta-analysis of the literature performed by Rojas-Garcia et al. (2018) found prolonged lengths of stay were associated with an increased risk of inpatient complications (i.e., hospital-acquired infections), increased costs, and negatively impacted the patient's mobility and daily living activities. It is possible that a decline in the patient's functionality and inhospital complications could lead to future hospitalizations, increasing the likelihood of 30-day readmission.

The relationship between serum albumin levels and all-cause 30-day readmission was statistically significant, and patients with normal serum albumin levels were less likely to be readmitted within 30-days of the index admission. This finding was consistent with previous studies that have shown an abnormal serum albumin is associated with an increased odds of readmission (Huynh et al., 2016). Serum albumin is thought to have anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and antiplatelet activity, suggesting that a normal serum albumin level is a protective factor for patients with heart failure (Arques, 2018).

The term *comorbidity* is used to communicate the patient's burden of illness or the total burden of physiological dysfunction (Valderas et al., 2009). The comorbidity score was measured using a modified Charlson comorbidity index, a summary measure that assigns cumulative points based on specific comorbidities or illnesses. The summary measure was used by van Walraven et al. (2010) to develop the LACE index. Previous research has linked comorbidity burden to a greater risk of 30-day readmission for heart failure patients. For example, Patil et al. (2019) found a higher comorbidity burden in patients with decompensated heart failure was independently associated with a higher rate of 30-day readmission (OR = 1.11; p < .01). Similarly, I found that comorbidities statistically significantly predict all-cause 30-day readmissions in heart failure patients (OR = 1.14; p = .002). A higher comorbidity score could drive 30-day readmission rates by complicating recovery or increasing the patient's risk for noncardiovascular inpatient admissions.

The number of medications prescribed to the patient was statistically significantly associated with all-cause 30-day readmission for the study population (p = .006). The patients within the study population most commonly had 11 prescription medications listed in their EMR as current medications. Picker et al. (2015) found the prescribing of more than six medications at discharge was an independent predictor of 30-day readmission (OR = 1.26; 95% CI [1.17, 1.36]; p = .003). The results of research by Al-Tamimi et al. (2021) recognized compliance with medication regime as the most significant predictor of readmission for a population of heart failure patients (OR = 3.6; 95% CI [1.57, 8.28]; p = .002). Poor medication adherence is frequently found among heart failure patients leading to increased occurrence of heart failure exacerbations and subsequent readmission to the hospital (Akkineni et al., 2020).

Research Question 3

The final modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model included the statistically significant predictors of all-cause 30-day readmission: comorbidity score,

length of stay, and the number of medications prescribed to the patient. The number of emergency room visits in the past 6 months and serum albumin level were excluded because the results of the logistic regression calculations suggest the variables lower the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission. Grounded by the Andersen model (1968) and based on the existing literature, the three variables included in the modified risk prediction model correspond to need factors. According to Andersen et al. (2013), need factors include how the patient perceives their health status and how the healthcare provider evaluates the patient's health status. Smith et al. (2017) proposed that need factors indicate illness level. Therefore, those with a higher level of illness are at a greater risk of readmission within 30 days of the index admission.

The ROC curve analysis of the modified model produced a *c* statistic of .618 (95% CI [0.555, 0.681]; p = .001) and the optimal cut-point value was 5.5 (sensitivity = .554; specificity = .63). The poor performance of the modified 30-day readmission risk model does not support the integration of the model into the EMR system at the study site.

The modification of the LACE index for different target populations is a common theme in the literature. For example, Van Spall et al. (2018) studied a population of heart failure patients and found a higher *c* statistic was produced when only length of stay and emergency room visits were included in the LACE index. Similar results were published by Makam et al. (2017), who developed a modified LACE index for patients with pneumonia and found a higher predictive value for the modified model. Makam et al. included the patient's Pneumonia Severity Index score, platelet laboratory results, discharge location, income, and vital signs. Significant clinical and demographic predictors of 30-day readmission vary between disease conditions, and it is possible that disease-focused readmission models would better predict 30-day readmission.

Based on a comparison of the *c* statistics between the LACE index and the modified risk model, there was a minimal change in the discriminative accuracy to predict 30-day readmission. The combination of independent variables within the modified 30-day readmission model had a slightly higher predictive value (*c* statistic) than the LACE index (c = .618 vs. c = .616). However, both risk prediction models demonstrated poor discriminative accuracy to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in heart failure patients, and with the selection of an optimal cut-point value for high risk, both models demonstrated low sensitivity and low specificity.

I analyzed race as a covariate for the performance of the LACE index and the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model. For both models, the ROC curve results were statistically significant only for those who identified as White when the analyses were stratified based on race. Additionally, when only considering patients in the White race category, the discriminative accuracy (*c* statistic) of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmission was higher than the modified risk prediction model. The *p* values associated with the ROC curves were not statistically significant for the Black, Hispanic, and Asian categories. The finding of nonsignificant results could be because 83.5% of the sample population identified as White, not allowing for the diversity necessary to accurately identify those at risk of 30-day readmission in the other race categories.

Limitations of the Study

The current study was subject to several limitations. Secondary data was collected from a single healthcare system and did not account for patients who may have been readmitted within 30 days to a different healthcare system. The study sample was selected using convenience sampling from six acute care facilities located in a suburban area in New York and may not reflect the experiences of heart failure patients in other locations. In addition, the study sample disproportionately identified as White, further limiting the generalizability of the study results.

The use of secondary data limited the control over the quality of the data, how the variables were defined, and restricted what variables were included in the data analyses. This could lead to the possible loss of information and unidentified covariates. Lastly, the logistic regression calculations were done individually to determine the statistically significant predictors of readmission. Therefore, confounding variables that may influence the relationship between the individual independent variables and 30-day readmission were not considered.

Recommendations

The results of the study showed the LACE index and the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model have poor discriminative accuracy for predicting allcause 30-day readmission for heart failure patients. However, this study was limited in generalizability because of the baseline sample characteristics. I recommend that subsequent studies use a more diverse sample of heart failure patients to examine the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index and the relationship between the independent variables and all-cause 30-day readmission.

Future studies may also consider modifying certain variable definitions. For example, while access to a primary care physician was examined in the current study, it may be more appropriate to study the influence of access to a cardiologist for follow-up care in the heart failure population. Subsequent studies may also consider applying a modified version of the comorbidity score when examining the discriminative accuracy of the LACE index. According to Quan et al. (2011), improvements in treatment and chronic disease management, and advances in technology necessitate the revision of the Charlson comorbidity index score. The purpose of research by Quan et al. was to update the weights assigned to the diseases incorporated into the Charlson comorbidity index score using the current one-year mortality rates for each specific disease condition. The researchers found that out of the 16 diseases examined, the weights of 12 of the diseases were modified; three diseases decreased in point value, four increased in point value, and five diseases were reduced to have a weight of zero points. Finally, future studies may choose to examine the outcome variable as 30-day heart failure readmission rather than all-cause 30-day readmission.

Social Change Implications

The positive social change implications of the current study include providing an improved understanding of the risk factors related to 30-day readmission in the heart failure population. The results of the study found a statistically significant relationship between the number of ER visits, length of stay, comorbidity score, serum albumin

levels, and medication regimen on the occurrence of readmission within 30-days of the index admission. The existence of modifiable patient-level factors can guide healthcare professionals to identify patients at a higher risk of being readmitted within 30-days of discharge. For example, the results of this study suggest the importance of achieving normal albumin levels and an easy-to-understand medication regimen post-discharge. Identifying at-risk patients is a first step to implementing targeted interventions to reduce 30-day readmission rates.

The occurrence of 30-day readmission has been linked to adverse patient outcomes, including higher mortality rates and increased medical costs (Arundel et al., 2016; Kwok et al., 2021). From a healthcare facility perspective, 30-day readmission rates impact financial performance due to penalties imposed by CMS for higher-thanexpected rates (Upadhyay et al., 2019). Research published by Auerbach et al. (2016) suggested 26% of 30-day readmissions in the study population were potentially preventable through better communication, greater attention to the patient's readiness for discharge and needed support for self-management, and enhanced disease monitoring. Risk prediction scores built within the EMR help provide healthcare professionals with actionable data to identify individuals needing proactive and preventative care (Goldstein et al., 2017). However, although statistically significant, both risk models tested demonstrated poor discrimination for identifying patients readmitted within 30-days suggesting a lack of clinical significance for the study results. Before instituting the LACE index in the EMR system at a healthcare facility, I would recommend that the LACE index be further validated using a sample of patients seen at the facility before allocating scarce financial resources to support the use of the LACE index.

Conclusion

The conclusions of this study offer further understanding of the patient-level factors that influence all-cause 30-day readmission for heart failure patients. Furthermore, it contributes to the limited literature on the use of the LACE index to predict all-cause 30-day readmission in the heart failure population. The LACE index and the modified 30-day readmission risk prediction model did not demonstrate sufficient discriminative accuracy to justify the clinical use of the prediction models for heart failure patients. However, this research supported the importance of considering the patient's length of stay, comorbidity burden, serum albumin level, tendency to visit the emergency room, and the number of medications prescribed to the patient when assessing the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission can help inform the development of targeted interventions designed to lower readmission rates and decrease the adverse medical and financial outcomes associated with 30-day readmission.

References

- Akkineni, S. S. L., Mohammed, O., Pathiraj, J. P. K., Devasia, T., Chandrababu, R., & Kunhikatta, V. (2020). Readmissions and clinical outcomes in heart failure patients: A retrospective study. *Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health*, 8(2), 495–500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cegh.2019.11.002</u>
- Al-Tamimi, M. A., Gillani, S. W., Abd Alhakam, M. E., & Sam, K. G. (2021). Factors associated with hospital readmission of heart failure patients. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12, Article 732760. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.732760</u>
- Altman, D. G., & Royston, P. (2006). The cost of dichotomizing continuous variables. BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 332(7549), 1080.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.332.7549.1080

American Heart Association. (2017). What is heart failure?

https://www.heart.org/en/health-topics/heart-failure/what-is-heart-failure

- Andersen, R. (1968). *Behavioral model of families' use of health services*. Center for Health Administration Studies, University of Chicago.
- Andersen, R. M. (1995). Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: Does it matter? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 36(1), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2137284</u>
- Andersen, R. M., Davidson, P. L., & Baumeister, S. E. (2013). Improving Access to Care. In G. Kominski (Ed.), *Changing the US health care system: Key issues in health services policy and management* (4th ed., pp. 33–69). Jossey-Bass.

Andersen, R. M., & Newman, J. F. (2005). Societal and individual determinants of

medical care utilization in the United States. *The Milbank Quarterly*, *51*(1), 95–124. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2005.00428.x

- Andrade, C. (2021). The inconvenient truth about convenience and purposive samples. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(1), 86–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620977000
- Arora, S., Patel, P., Lahewala, S., Patel, N., Patel, N. J., Thakore, K., Amin, A., Tripathi, B., Kumar, V., Shah, H., Shah, M., Panaich, S., Deshmukh, A., Badheka, A., Gidwani, U., & Gopalan, R. (2017). Etiologies, trends, and predictors of 30-day readmission in patients with heart failure. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *119*(5), 760–769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.11.022</u>
- Arques, S. (2018). Human serum albumin in cardiovascular diseases. *European Journal* of Internal Medicine, 52, 8–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2018.04.014</u>
- Arundel, C., Lam, P., Khosla, R., Blackman, M., Fonarow, G., Morgan, C., Zeng, Q.,
 Fletcher, R., Butler, J., Wu, W., Deedwania, P., Love, T., White, M., Aronow, W.,
 Anker, S., Allman, R., & Ahmed, A. (2016). Association of 30-day all-cause
 readmission with long term outcomes in hospitalized older Medicare beneficiaries
 with heart failure. *American Journal of Medicine*, *129*(11), 1178–1184.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.06.018
- Au, A. G., McAlister, F. A., Bakal, J. A., Ezekowitz, J., Kaul, P., & van Walraven, C. (2012). Predicting the risk of unplanned readmission or death within 30 days of discharge after a heart failure hospitalization. *American Heart Journal*, *164*(3), 365–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2012.06.010</u>

- Auerbach, A. D., Kripalani, S., Vasilevskis, E. E., Sehgal, N., Lindenauer, P. K., Metlay, J. P., Fletcher, G., Ruhnke, G. W., Flanders, S. A., Kim, C., Williams, M. V., Thomas, L., Giang, V., Herzig, S. J., Patel, K., Boscardin, W. J., Robinson, E. J., & Schnipper, J. L. (2016). Preventability and causes of readmissions in a national cohort of general medicine patients. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(4), 484–493. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.7863
- Austin, S. R., Wong, Y., Uzzo, R. G., Beck, J. R., & Egleston, B. L. (2015). Why summary comorbidity measures such as the Charlson Comorbidity Index and Elixhauser Score work. *Medical Care*, 53(9), e65–e72. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0b013e318297429c
- Bradford, C., Shah, B. M., Shane, P., Wachi, N., & Sahota, K. (2017). Patient and clinical characteristics that heighten risk for heart failure readmission. *Research in Social* and Administrative Pharmacy, 13(6), 1070–1081.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2016.11.002

- Caetano, S. J., Sonpavde, G., & Pond, G. R. (2018). C-statistic: A brief explanation of its construction, interpretation and limitations. *European Journal of Cancer*, 90, 130–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2017.10.027</u>
- Calderon, E. H. C., Mene-Afejuku, T., Cativo, D. P., Lopez, P., Garay, H. R., Ruiz, M., & Visco, F. (2018). Use of Lace index to predict the risk of readmission in patients with acute decompensated heart failure in a predominant Hispanic population. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *71*(11), A852. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0735-1097(18)31393-7

Carlson, B., Hoyt, H., Gillespie, K., Kunath, J., Lewis, D., & Bratzke, L. C. (2019).
Predictors of heart failure readmission in a high-risk primarily Hispanic
population in a rural setting. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, *34*(3), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCN.00000000000056

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Heart failure. U.S. Department of

Health and Human Services. https://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/heart_failure.htm

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (n.d.). CMS data navigator glossary of

terms. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-

Systems/Research/ResearchGenInfo/Downloads/DataNav_Glossary_Alpha.pdf

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017). AMI, COPD, heart failure,

pneumonia, and stroke readmission: Three-year trends. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

https://www.cmshospitalchartbook.com/visualization/exploring-national-ratesover-time

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2020). *Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program (HRRP)*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/Value-Based-Programs/HRRP/Hospital-Readmission-Reduction-Program</u>
- Chamberlain, R. S., Sond, J., Mahendraraj, K., Lau, C. S., & Siracuse, B. L. (2018). Determining 30-day readmission risk for heart failure patients: The Readmission

After Heart Failure scale. *International Journal of General Medicine*, *11*, 127–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJGM.S150676</u>

- Chan, B., Goldman, L. E., Sarkar, U., Guzman, D., Critchfield, J., Saha, S., & Kushel, M. (2019). High perceived social support and hospital readmissions in an older multiethnic, limited English proficiency, safety-net population. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4162-6</u>
- Charlson, M. E., Pompei, P., Ales, K. L., & MacKenzie, C. (1987). A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: Development and validation. *Journal of Chronic Disease*, 40(5), 373–383.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8

- Cheung, K. L., ten Klooster, P. M., Smit, C., de Vries, H., & Pieterse, M. E. (2017). The impact of non-response bias due to sampling in public health studies: A comparison of voluntary versus mandatory recruitment in a Dutch national survey on adolescent health. *BMC Public Health*, *17*, Article 276. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4189-8
- Chinn, S. (2000). A simple method for converting an odds ratio to effect size for use in meta-analysis. *Statistics in Medicine*, 19(22), 3127–3131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0258(20001130)19:22<3127::aid-sim784>3.0.co;2-</u> m
- Chung, J. E., Noh, E., & Gwak, H. S. (2017). Evaluation of the predictors of readmission in Korean patients with heart failure. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 42(1), 51–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpt.12471</u>

- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Colavecchia, A. C., Putney, D. R., Johnson, M. L., & Aparasu, R. R. (2017). Discharge medication complexity and 30-day heart failure readmissions. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, *13*(4), 857–863.

https://doi/10.1016/j.sapharm.2016.10.002

- Curtis, E. A., Comiskey, C., & Dempsey, O. (2016). Importance and use of correlational research. *Nurse Researcher*, 23(6), 20–25. <u>http://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2016.e1382</u>
- Damery, S., & Combes, G. (2017). Evaluating the predictive strength of the LACE index in identifying patients at high risk of hospital readmission following an inpatient episode: A retrospective cohort study. *BMJ Open*, 7(7), Article e016921.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016921
- Dasgupta, A., & Sepulveda, J. L. (2019). *Accurate results in the clinical laboratory: A guide to error detection and correction* (2nd edition.). Elsevier.
- Deyo, R. A., Cherkin, D. C., & Ciol, M. A. (1992). Adapting a clinical comorbidity index for use with ICD-9-CM administrative databases. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 45(6), 613–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(92)90133-8
- Downing, N. S., Wang, C., Gupta, A., Wang, Y., Nuti, S. V., Ross, J. S., Bernheim, S. M., Lin, Z., Normand, S.-L. T., & Krumholz, H. M. (2018). Association of racial and socioeconomic disparities with outcomes among patients hospitalized with acute myocardial infarction, heart failure, and pneumonia: An analysis of within-and between-hospital variation. *JAMA Network Open*, 1(5). Article e182044.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.2044

- Dupre, M. E., Xu, H., Granger, B. B., Lynch, S. M., Nelson, A., Churchill, E., Willis, J. M., Curtis, L. H., & Peterson, E. D. (2018). Access to routine care and risks for 30-day readmission in patients with cardiovascular disease. *American Heart Journal*, 196, 9–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2017.10.001</u>
- Elfil, M., & Negida, A. (2017). Sampling methods in clinical research: An educational review. *Emergency*, *5*(1), Article e52.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191.

https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146

- Fingar, K. R., Barrett, M. L., & Jiang, H. J. (2017). A comparison of all-cause 7-day and 30-day readmissions, 2014. HCUP Statistical Brief #230. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. <u>https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb230-7-</u> Day-Versus-30-Day-Readmissions.jsp
- Fingar, K. R., & Washington, R. (2015). Trends in hospital readmissions for four highvolume conditions, 2009–2013. HCUP Statistical Brief #196. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

https://www.hcupus.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb196-Readmissions-Trends-High-Volume-Conditions.jsp

Flaks-Manov, N., Topaz, M., Hoshen, M., Balicer, R. D., & Shadmi, E. (2019). Identifying patients at highest-risk: The best timing to apply a readmission predictive model. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, *19*(1), 118. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-019-0836-6

- Ghrair, F., Bansal, P., Patel, D., Alkhawam, H., Marino, T., & Vittorio, T. J. (2017).
 Worsening blood urea nitrogen and creatinine levels can predict length of hospital stay and 30-day readmission rate among patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction admitted for acute heart failure syndrome. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*, 23(8), S81–S82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardfail.2017.07.234</u>
- Goldstein, B. A., Navar, A. M., Pencina, M. J., & Ioannidis, J. P. (2017). Opportunities and challenges in developing risk prediction models with electronic health records data: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24(1), 198–208. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocw042
- Grant, S. W., Collins, G. S., & Nashef, S. A. (2018). Statistical primer: Developing and validating a risk prediction model. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 54(2), 203–208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ejcts/ezy180</u>
- Grant, S. W., Hickey, G. L., & Head, S. J. (2019). Statistical primer: Multivariable regression considerations and pitfalls. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 55(2), 179–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ejcts/ezy403</u>
- Guerrero, M., Crisafulli, E., Liapikou, A., Huerta, A., Gabarrús, A., Chetta, A., Soler, N., & Torres, A. (2016). Readmission for acute exacerbation within 30 days of discharge is associated with a subsequent progressive increase in mortality risk in COPD patients: A long-term observational study. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(3), Article e0150737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150737</u>

- Hamilton, J. E., Passos, I. C., de Azevedo Cardoso, T., Jansen, K., Allen, M., Begley, C.
 E., Soares, J. C., & Kapczinski, F. (2016). Predictors of psychiatric readmission among patients with bipolar disorder at an academic safety-net hospital. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *50*(6), 584–593.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867415605171</u>
- Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project. (n.d.). LOS- Length of stay. https://www.hcupus.ahrq.gov/db/vars/los/nisnote.jsp

Hines, A. L., Barrett, M. L., Jiang, H. J., & Steiner, C. A. (2014). Conditions with the largest number of adult hospital readmissions by payer, 2011: Statistical Brief #172. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
https://www.hcupus.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb172-Conditions-Readmissions-Payer.jsp

Hirshfield, S., Downing, M. J., Horvath, K. J., Swartz, J. A., & Chiasson, M. A. (2018).
Adapting Andersen's behavioral model of health service use to examine risk factors for hypertension among U.S. MSM. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *12*(4), 788–797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988316644402</u>

Horwitz, L., Partovian, C., Lin, L., Herrin, J., Grady, J., Conover, M., Montague, J.,
Dillaway, C., Bartczak, K., Ross, J., Bernheim, S., Drye, E., & Krumholz, H.
(2011). Hospital-wide (all-condition) 30-day risk-standardized readmission measure: Draft measure methodology report.
https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/MMS/Downloads/MMSHospital-WideAll- ConditionReadmissionRate.pdf

Huynh, Q. L., Negishi, K., Blizzard, L., Sanderson, K., Venn, A. J., & Marwick, T. H.
(2016). Predictive score for 30-day readmission or death in heart failure. *JAMA Cardiology*, 1(3), 362–364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2016.0220</u>

IBM Knowledge Center. (n.d.). Overview (ROC command).

https://www.ibm.com/support/knowledgecenter/SSLVMB_subs/statistics_referen ce_project_ddita/spss/base/syn_roc_overview.html

- Ibrahim, A. M., Koester, C., Al-Akchar, M., Tandan, N., Regmi, M., Bhattarai, M., Al-Bast, B., Kulkarni, A., & Robinson, R. (2020). HOSPITAL score, LACE index and LACE+ index as predictors of 30-day readmission in patients with heart failure. *BMJ Evidence-Based Medicine*, 25(5), 166–167. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjebm-2019-111271
- Inamdar, A. A., & Inamdar, A. C. (2016). Heart failure: Diagnosis, management and utilization. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 5(7), Article e62. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm5070062
- Jackson, S. L., Tong, X., King, R. J., Loustalot, F., Hong, Y., & Ritchey, M. D. (2018).
 National burden of heart failure events in the United States, 2006 to 2014. *Circulation: Heart Failure*, 11(12), Article e004873.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.117.004873

Jager, J., Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2017). More than just convenient: The scientific merits of homogenous convenience sample. *Monographs of the Society* for Research in Child Development, 82(2), 13–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12296

- Janes, H., & Pepe, M. S. (2008). Adjusting for covariates in studies of diagnostic, screening, or prognostic markers: An old concept in a new setting. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 1, 89–97. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwn099
- Jujo, K., Minami, Y., Haruki, S., Matsue, Y., Shimazaki, K., Kadowaki, H., Ishida, I., Kambayashi, K., Arashi, H., Sekiguchi, H., & Hagiwara, N. (2017). Persistent high blood urea nitrogen level is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events in patients with acute heart failure. *ESC Heart Failure*, 4(4), 545–553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.12188</u>
- Kaya, S., SainGuven, G., Aydan, S., & Toka, O. (2019). Predictors of hospital readmissions in internal medicine patients: Application of Andersen's Model. *The International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, *34*(1), 370–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.2648</u>
- Kwok, C. S., Abramov, D., Parwani, P., Ghosh, R. K., Kittleson, M., Ahmad, F. Z., Al Ayoubi, F., Van Spall, H. G. C., & Mamas, M. A. (2021). Cost of inpatient heart failure care and 30-day readmissions in the United States. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 329, 115–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2020.12.020</u>
- Lau, F. (2017). Methods for correlational studies. In F. Lau & C. Kuziemsky (Eds.). Handbook of eHealth Evaluation: An Evidence-based Approach. University of Victoria.
- Lederle, M., Tempes, J., & Bitzer, E. M. (2021). Application of Andersen's behavioral model of health services use: a scoping review with a focus on qualitative health
services research. BMJ Open, 11(5), Article e045018.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045018

Lee, Y. H., Bang, H., & Kim, D. J. (2016). How to establish clinical prediction models. *Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *31*(1), 38–44.

https://doi.org/10.3803/EnM.2016.31.1.38

- Li, Y.-N., Nong, D.-X., Wei, B., Feng, Q.-M., & Luo, H.-Y. (2016). The impact of predisposing, enabling, and need factors in utilization of health services among rural residents in Guangxi, China. *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*(1), 592. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1825-4
- Lim, N. K., Lee, S. E., Lee, H. Y., Cho, H. J., Choe, W. S., Kim, H., Choi, J. O., Jeon, E. S., Kim, M. S., Kim, J. J., Hwang, K. K., Chae, S. C., Baek, S. H., Kang, S. M., Choi, D. J., Yoo, B. S., Kim, K. H., Cho, M. C., Oh, B. H., & Park, H. Y. (2019). Risk prediction for 30-day heart failure-specific readmission or death after discharge: Data from the Korean acute heart failure (KorAHF) registry. *Journal of Cardiology*, *73*(2), 108–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjcc.2018.07.009</u>
- Lloren, A., Liu, S., Herrin, J., Lin, Z., Zhou, G., Wang, Y., Kuang, M., Zhou, S., Farietta, T., McCole, K., Charania, S., Dorsey Sheares, K., & Bernheim, S. (2019).
 Measuring hospital-specific disparities by dual eligibility and race to reduce health inequities. *Health Services Research*, 54(1), 243–254.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13108

Locker, T. E., Baston, S., Mason, S. M., & Nicholl, J. (2007). Defining frequent use of an urban emergency department. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 24(6), 398–401.

https://doi.org/10.1136/emj.2006.043844

Loop, M. S., Van Dyke, M. K., Chen, L., Brown, T. M., Durant, R. W., Safford, M. M., & Levitan, E. B. (2020). Evidence-based beta blocker use associated with lower Medicare beneficiaries hospitalized for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(7), Article e0233161.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233161

- Mahmoudi, E., Kamdar, N., Kim, N., Gonzales, G., Singh, K., & Waljee, A. K. (2020).
 Use of electronic medical records in development and validation of risk prediction models of hospital readmission: systematic review. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 369, m958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m958</u>
- Makam, A. N., Nguyen, O. K., Clark, C., Zhang, S., Xie, B., Weinreich, M., Mortensen,
 E. M., & Halm, E. A. (2017). Predicting 30-day pneumonia readmissions using electronic health record data. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*, *4*, 209–216. https://doi.org/10.12788/jhm.2711
- McLaren, D. P., Jones, R., Plotnik, R., Zareba, W., McIntosh, S., Alexis, J., Chen, L., Block, R., Lowenstein, C. J., & Kutyifa, V. (2016). Prior hospital admission predicts thirty-day hospital readmission for heart failure patients. *Cardiology Journal*, 23(2), 155–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.5603/CJ.a2016.0005</u>
- Miñana, G., Bosch, M. J., Núñez, E., Mollar, A., Santas, E., Valero, E., García-Blas, S., Pellicer, M., Bodí, V., Chorro, F. J., Sanchis, J., & Núñez, J. (2017). Length of stay and risk of very early readmission in acute heart failure. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, 42, 61–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2017.04.003</u>

- Mirkin, K. A., Enomoto, L. M., Caputo, G. M., & Hollenbeak, C. S. (2017). Risk factors for 30-day readmission in patients with congestive heart failure. *Heart & Lung*, 46(5), Article 357362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrtlng.2017.06.005</u>
- Myers, P. D., Ng, K., Severson, K., Kartoun, U., Dai, W., Huang, W., Anderson, F. A., & Stultz, C. M. (2020). Identifying unreliable predictions in clinical risk models.
 NPJ Digital Medicine, 3, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-019-0209-7</u>
- Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2019). What are the differences between electronic medical records, electronic health records, and personal health records? <u>https://www.healthit.gov/faq/what-are-differences-</u> <u>between-electronic-medical-records-electronic-health-records-and-personal</u>
- Panacek, E. A. (2007). Performing chart review studies. *Air Medical Journal*, 26(5), 206–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.05.027</u>
- Pandey, A., Keshvani, N., Khera, R., Lu, D., Vaduganathan, M., Joynt Maddox, K. E., Das, S. R., Kumbhani, D. J., Goyal, A., Girotra, S., Chan, P., Fonarow, G. C., Matsouaka, R., Wang, T. Y., & de Lemos, J. A. (2019). Temporal trends in racial differences in 30-day readmission and mortality rates after acute myocardial infarction among Medicare beneficiaries. *JAMA Cardiology*, *5*(2),136–145. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2019.4845
- Patil, S., Shah, M., Patel, B., Agarwal, M., Ram, P., & Alla, V. M. (2019). Readmissions among patients admitted with acute decompensated heart failure based on income quartiles. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 94(10), 1939–1950.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.05.027

- Patino, C. M., & Ferreira, J. C. (2018). Internal and external validity: Can you apply research study results to your patients? *Jornal Brasileiro de Pneumologia*, 44(3), 183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-37562018000000164</u>
- Pepe, M. (1997). A regression modelling framework for receiver operating characteristic curves in medical diagnostic testing. *Biometrika*, 84(3), 595–608.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/84.3.595</u>
- Perkins, N. J., & Schisterman, E. F. (2006). The inconsistency of "optimal" cutpoints obtained using two criteria based on the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 163(7), 670–675. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwj063

Picker, D., Heard, K., Bailey, T. C., Martin, N. R., LaRossa, G. N., & Kollef, M. H. (2015). The number of discharge medications predicts thirty-day hospital readmission: A cohort study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-0950-9

Ponikowski, P., Voors, A. A., Anker, S. D., Bueno, H., Cleland, J. G. F., Coats, A. J. S., Falk, V., Gonzalez-Juanatey, J. R., Harjola, V.-P., Jankowska, E. A., Jessup, M., Linde, C., Nihoyannopoulos, P., Parissis, J. T., Pieske, B., Riley, J. P., Rosano, G. M. C., Ruilope, L. M., Ruschitzka, F., & Guazzi, M. (2016). 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *European Journal of Heart Failure*, *18*(8), 891–975. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.592</u>

- Quan, H., Li, B., Couris, C. M., Fushimi, K., Graham, P., Hider, P., Januel, J.-M., & Sundararajan, V. (2011). Updating and validating the Charlson comorbidity index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *173*(6), 676–682. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq433
- Ramspek, C. L., Jager, K. J., Dekker, F. W., Zoccali, C., & van Diepen, M. (2020).
 External validation of prognostic models: What, why, how, when and where? *Clinical Kidney Journal*, *14*(1), 49–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfaa188</u>
- Reddy, Y. N. V., & Borlaug, B. A. (2019). Readmissions in heart failure: It's more than just the medicine. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 10, 1919–1921. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.08.015</u>
- Regmi, M. R., Bhattarai, M., Parajuli, P., Garcia, O. E. L., Tandan, N., Ferry, N., Cheema, A., Chami, Y., & Robinson, R. (2020). Heart failure with preserve ejection fraction (HFpEF) and 30-day readmission. *Clinical Medicine & Research*, 18(4), 126–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2020.1521</u>
- Rojas-García, A., Turner, S., Pizzo, E., Hudson, E., Thomas, J., & Raine, R. (2018).
 Impact and experiences of delayed discharge: A mixed-studies systematic review. *Health Expectations: An International Journal of Public Participation in Health Care and Health Policy*, 21(1), 41–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12619</u>
- Roshanghalb, A., Mazzali, C., & Lettieri, E. (2019). Multi-level models for heart failure patients' 30-day mortality and readmission rates: The relation between patient and hospital factors in administrative data. *BMC Health Services Research*, *19*(1), 1–

12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4818-2

- Sanam, K., Bhatia, V., Bajaj, N. S., Gaba, S., Morgan, C. J., Fonarow, G. C., Butler, J., Deedwania, P., Prabhu, S. D., Wu, W. C., White, M., Love, T. E., Aronow, W. S., Fletcher, R. D., Allman, R. M., & Ahmed, A. (2016). Renin-angiotensin system inhibition and lower 30-day all-cause readmission in Medicare beneficiaries with heart failure. *American Journal of Medicine*, *129*(10), 1067–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.05.008
- Sharma, A., Zhao, X., Hammill, B. G., Hernandez, A. F., Fonarow, G. C., Felker, G. M., Yancy, C. W., Heidenreich, P. A., Ezekowitz, J. A., & DeVore, A. D. (2018).
 Trends in noncardiovascular comorbidities among patients hospitalized for heart failure: Insights from the Get with The Guidelines-Heart Failure Registry. *Circulation: Heart Failure*, *11*(6), Article e004646. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.117.004646
- Smith, R. W., Kuluski, K., Costa, A. P., Sinha, S. K., Glazier, R. H., Forster, A., & Jeffs, L. (2017). Investigating the effect of sociodemographic factors on 30-day hospital readmission among medical patients in Toronto, Canada: A prospective cohort study. *BMJ OPEN*, 7(12), Article e017956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-</u>

2017-017956

Stessel, B., Fiddelers, A. A., Marcus, M. A., van Kuijk, S. M., Joosten, E. A., Peters, M. L., Buhre, W. F., & Gramke, H. F. (2017). External validation and modification of a predictive model for acute postsurgical pain at home after day surgery. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 33(5), 405–413.

https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000413

- Sud, M., Yu, B., Wijeysundera, H. C., Austin, P. C., Ko, D. T., Braga, J., Cram, P., Spertus, J. A., Domanski, M., & Lee, D. S. (2017). Associations between short or long length of stay and 30-day readmission and mortality in hospitalized patients with heart failure. *JACC-Heart Failure*, 5(8), 578–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf.2017.03.012</u>
- Sullivan, L. M., Massaro, J. M., & D'Agostino, R. B. (2004). Presentation of multivariate data for clinical use: The Framingham Study risk score functions. *Statistics in Medicine*, 23(10), 1631–1660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1742</u>
- Taylor, C. J., Ordóñez-Mena, J. M., Roalfe, A. K., Lay-Flurrie, S., Jones, N. R., Marshall, T., & Hobbs, F. D. R. (2019). Trends in survival after a diagnosis of heart failure in the United Kingdom 2000–2017: Population based cohort study. (2019). *BMJ* (*Clinical Research Ed.*), *367*, Article 15840. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.15840</u>
- Tung, Y. C., Chang, G. M., Chang, H. Y., & Yu, T. H. (2017). Relationship between early physician follow-up and 30-day readmission after acute myocardial infarction and heart failure. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(1), 1–20.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170061

- Unal, I. (2017). Defining an Optimal Cut-Point Value in ROC Analysis: An Alternative Approach. *Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine*, 2017, 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3762651</u>
- Upadhyay, S., Stephenson, A. L., & Smith, D. G. (2019). Readmission rates and their impact on hospital financial performance: A study of Washington hospitals.

Inquiry: The Journal of Medical Care Organization, Provision and Financing, 56, Article 46958019860386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958019860386</u>

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). *Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services*. <u>https://www.usa.gov/federal-agencies/centers-for-medicare-and-medicaid-services</u>
- Vader, J. M., LaRue, S. J., Stevens, S. R., Mentz, R. J., DeVore, A. D., Lala, A., Groarke, J. D., AbouEzzeddine, O. F., Dunlay, S. M., Grodin, J. L., Dávila-Román, V. G., & de las Fuentes, L. (2016). Timing and causes of readmission after acute heart failure hospitalization-Insights from the Heart Failure Network Trials. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*, 22(11), 875–883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardfail.2016.04.014
- Valderas, J. M., Starfield, B., Sibbald, B., Salisbury, C., & Roland, M. (2009). Defining comorbidity: Implications for understanding health and health services. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 7(4), 357–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.983</u>
- Van den Broeck, J., Cunningham, S. A., Eeckels, R., & Herbst, K. (2005). Data Cleaning: Detecting, diagnosing, and editing data abnormalities. *PLoS Medicine*, 2(10), 966–970. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0020267</u>
- Van Spall, H. G. C., Lee, S. F., Averbuch, T., Erbas Oz, U., Perez, R., Maingi, M., Heffernan, M., Mitoff, P., Tjandrawidjaja, M., Zia, M., Simek, K., Porepa, L., Panju, M., Ko, D., & Connolly, S. (2018). All you need is LE: Utility of an abbreviated LACE score in predicting 30-day outcomes among patients hospitalized for heart failure (HF). *European Heart Journal*, *39*(1), 1397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehy566.P6544</u>

- van Walraven, C., Dhalla, I. A., Bell, C., Etchells, E., Stiell, I. G., Zarnke, K., Austin, P. C., & Forster, A. J. (2010). Derivation and validation of an index to predict early death or unplanned readmission after discharge from hospital to the community. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *182*(6), 551–557. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.091117
- Venes, D. (2013). *Taber's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary* (22nd ed.). F.A. Davis Company.
- Verbakel, J. Y., Steyerberg, E. W., Uno, H., De Cock, B., Wynants, L., Collins, G. S., & Van Calster, B. (2020). ROC curves for clinical prediction models part 1. ROC plots showed no added value above the AUC when evaluating the performance of clinical prediction models. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *126*, 207–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2020.01.028</u>
- Wang, H., Robinson, R. D., Johnson, C., Zenarosa, N. R., Jayswal, R. D., Keithley, J., & Delaney, K. A. (2014). Using the LACE index to predict hospital readmissions in congestive heart failure patients. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, *14*(1), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2261-14-97
- Weiss, A., & Jiang, H. (2021). Overview of Clinical Conditions with Frequent and Costly Hospital Readmissions by Payer, 2018. HCUP Statistical Brief #278. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. <u>https://www.hcup-</u> <u>us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb278-Conditions-Frequent-Readmissions-By-</u> Payer-2018.jsp
- Whellan, D. J., Stebbins, A., Hernandez, A. F., Ezekowitz, J. A., McMurray, J. J.,

Mather, P. J., Hasselblad, V., & O'Connor, C. M. (2016). Dichotomous relationship between age and 30-day death or rehospitalization in heart failure patients admitted with acute decompensated heart failure: Results from the ASCEND-HF Trial. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*, 22(6), 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardfail.2016.02.011

- Whittaker, B. D., Soine, L. A., & Errico, K. M. (2015). Patient and process factors associated with all-cause 30-day readmission among patients with heart failure. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 27(2), 105–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2327-6924.12123</u>
- Yazdan-Ashoori, P., Lee, S. F., Ibrahim, Q., & Van Spall, H. G. C. (2016). Utility of the LACE index at the bedside in predicting 30-day readmission or death in patients hospitalized with heart failure. *American Heart Journal*, 179, 51–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2016.06.007</u>
- Zheng, B., Zhang, J., Yoon, S. W., Lam, S. S., Khasawneh, M., & Poranki, S. (2015).
 Predictive modeling of hospital readmissions using metaheuristics and data mining. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 42(20), 7110–7120.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2015.04.06

Zhou, H., Della, P. R., Roberts, P., Goh, L., & Dhaliwal, S. S. (2016). Utility of models to predict 28-day or 30-day unplanned hospital readmissions: An updated systematic review. *BMJ OPEN*, *6*(6), Article e011060.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011060

Ziaeian, B., & Fonarow, G. C. (2016). The prevention of hospital readmissions in heart

failure. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 58(4), 379–385.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2015.09.004

Ziaeian, B., Heidenreich, P. A., Xu, H., DeVore, A. D., Matsouaka, R. A., Hernandez, A. F., Bhatt, D. L., Yancy, C. W., & Fonarow, G. C. (2017). Race/Ethnic differences in outcomes among hospitalized Medicare patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction. *JACC: Heart Failure*, *5*(7), 483–493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf.2017.02.012</u>

| Variable | Value | Points |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------|
| L: Length of stay (days) | | |
| | 1 | 1 |
| | 2 | 2 |
| | 3 | 3 |
| | 4 - 6 | 4 |
| | 7 -13 | 5 |
| | 14 or more | 7 |
| A: Acute (emergent) admission | | |
| - | Yes | 3 |
| C: Comorbidity * | | |
| (Charlson comorbidity index score) | | |
| | History of myocardial infarction | 1 |
| | Peripheral vascular disease | 1 |
| | Cerebrovascular disease | 1 |
| | Diabetes without complications | 1 |
| | Congestive heart failure | 2 |
| | Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease | 2 |
| | Mild liver disease | 2 |
| | Cancer | 2 |
| | Dementia | 3 |
| | Connective tissue disease | 3 |
| | HIV infection | 4 |
| | Moderate or severe liver disease | 4 |
| | Metastatic solid tumor | 6 |
| E: Emergency department visits | | |
| during the previous six months | | |
| | 1 | 1 |
| | 2 | 2 |
| | 3 | 3 |
| | ≥4 | 4 |

Appendix A: LACE Index

*Comorbidity score: If the total score is between 0 and 3 add that number to the total count. If the score is 4 or higher, add 5 to the total count

Appendix B: Permission to Use LACE Index

From: Carl Vanwalraven <<u>cvanwalraven@toh.ca</u>> Sent: Wednesday, January 13, 2021 1:55 PM To: Debra Kelly <<u>debra.kelly2@waldenu.edu</u>> Subject: Re: Permission to use LACE Index for Readmission

Hi Debra. You may use it. Carl

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Debra Kelly <<u>debra.kelly2@waldenu.edu</u>> Sent: Wednesday, January 13, 2021 4:26:02 PM To: Carl Vanwalraven <<u>cvanwalraven@toh.ca</u>> Subject: Permission to use LACE Index for Readmission

CAUTION: External Mail. Do not click on links or open attachments you do not trust. ATTENTION: Courriel externe. Ne cliquez pas sur des liens et n'ouvrez pas de pièces jointes auxquels vous ne faites pas confiance. Dr. Carl van Walraven,

I am a doctoral student at Walden University, completing a dissertation in Public Health. I am writing to ask written permission to use the LACE Index for Readmission in my research study. The purpose of my research is to explore its use in a population of heart failure patients admitted to a six-facility healthcare system in New York. I will be evaluating the current model used by the healthcare system as well. The dissertation will be published in the Walden University ScholarWorks and deposited in the ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. I would be happy to provide any additional information you would like.